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POPULATION  

19,580

ENGINEERING AND  
OPERATIONS MAINTAINS

Over 55%  
of the City’s water 
distribution system 

is in the rural 
agricultural area.   

of Pitt Meadows  
is located in a  

floodplain.

86%

The City’s IT 
department  

manages 20.82 
km of private 

optic cabling that 
connects City 

Hall to the works 
yard, Annex, Pitt 
Meadows Family 

Recreation Centre 
and Fire Hall

60.9km  
of dikes

6 pump stations  

11 floodgates  
740 culverts

114.3 km 
of road, 9 
bridges, 
58.7km of 
sidewalk, 
31 km of 
bike lanes

is agricultural land including cranberries and blueberry 
farms, horticultural products, greenhouse crops (cut 
flowers and specialty peppers).

86% 
of Pitt Meadows

The City 
operates 20 
facilities including 
6 heritage 
buildings and  
1 LEED  
building
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CANADIAN AWARD
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded 
a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting to the City of Pitt Meadows for its annual financial 
report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
program was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish 
high quality financial reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials 
preparing these reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish 
an easily readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, whose contents conform 
to program standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally 
accepted accounting principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal 
government’s financial picture, enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal 
government, and address user needs.

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our 
current report continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program 
requirements and the City will be submitting it to the GFOA for 2017.
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JOHN BECKER, MAYOR
MAYOR’S MESSAGE

Transportation continues to be a focus for Council. Proposed 
projects for railway infrastructure will have a large impact on 
Pitt Meadows, and the City is committed to working closely 
with senior governments and agencies as well as CP Rail to 
ensure that the community is informed on these impacts. 
Community engagement and public feedback will be a part of 
next steps to ensure we do what is right for the community.

To address concerns around truck traffic in South Bonson, 
the City and the Katie First Nation co-hosted a Truck Traffic 
community information session. 80 members from both 
communities joined the session to share interests and to 
discuss potential short-term and long-term solutions to the 

use of the South Bonson area roads. A working group comprised of three community members 
from both Pitt Meadows  and the Katzie First Nation has been created to provide a forum to 
exchange information and discuss issues and activities on Bonson Road. 

A major conversation in the community last year centred on the Golden Ears Business Park 
expansion. While this project has been a part of the Official Community Plan for many years and 
supports economic growth not just in Pitt Meadows but throughout metro Vancouver, we heard 
from some residents about their concerns as to how the development would affect the South 
Bonson area. Many voices spoke at the public hearing in June, and Council took this feedback 
into consideration and made significant amendments to the developer’s application regarding 
buffer setbacks and provisions for additional commercial usage. 

We have also been addressing public safety in Pitt Meadows. In the spring, the City and the 
Katzie First Nation connected with the community to identify issues and collaborate on how 
we can connect law enforcement with other non-police organizations to create a “safety 

2017 was an exciting year with many opportunities for engagement, growth 
and improvement for Pitt Meadows. We consulted residents on a variety 
of issues, and we are continually working to build a better and stronger 
community while preserving the natural beauty and small town feel that 
we all love. Some of the major themes of our work have centred around 
engagement with residents on key issues such as transportation, public 
safety, and connecting with citizens in a dialogue on these issues.
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MAYOR’S MESSAGE
JOHN BECKER, MAYOR

and security web” of services to better connect and serve the community. A long-term 
implementation committee will be established support and oversee the implementation of 
these actions. 

The City also has been enforcing bylaws and zoning concerns at the Pitt Meadows Airport under 
the new governance model. Under the newly established Airport Governance structure, the 
City has reviewed current practices related to the City’s role in regulating Airport activities. We 
have committed to exercising greater authority in regulating Airport activities which includes 
the use of lands and buildings and adhering to fire code regulations with the goal of improving 
community safety at the airport. 

In 2017, Pitt Meadows had the lowest combined property taxes and utilities in the region for 
the average single family home, and City service levels have continued to increase in areas 
such as Parks & Recreation, Transportation, Communications, Cultural Services, Environmental 
Stewardship, Emergency Preparedness, Planning and Bylaw Enforcement. With careful planning 
and fiscal management, we continue to offer municipal services citizens want and need in their 
community, while maintaining an affordable taxation rate. This was an early commitment of 
Council’s, and we are committed to maintaining this goal.

At the close of the year, the City implemented a Civic Engagement Policy and Framework. This 
new initiative will help us draw on best practices to guide citizen engagement and allow for 
better informed decision-making and partnership with the public on issues in the community. 
Thank you to those citizens who participated through focus groups and surveys to help develop 
this policy and framework. This input was essential to drafting our plan for public engagement 
in Pitt Meadows. 

Pitt Meadows remains the community we know and love.  Careful planning, rich dialogue with 
residents and stakeholders coupled with solid strategic leadership will enable us to move Pitt 
Meadows forward in a way that meets modern demands but retains its unique features. On 
behalf of Council, I hope you will read through this report and share my pride in the work we 
have done together as a community for our city. 

Sincerely,

 

John Becker, Mayor 
jbecker@pittmeadows.bc.ca
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MAYOR AND COUNCIL

From left to right:  Councillor Bill Dingwall, Councillor Janis Elkerton, Mayor John Becker, Councillor Tracy Miyashita,  
Councillor Bruce Bell and Councillor Mike Stark.

MAYOR JOHN  
BECKER
Elected Mayor in 2014

BOARDS: 
Pitt Meadows Airport Society Board of Directors
Metro Vancouver  Board of Directors
    MV Aboriginal Relations Committee
    MV Mayors Committee
    MV Utilities Committee
TransLink Mayors’ Council on Regional Transportation

COUNCIL LIAISON POSITIONS: 
Rail Community Advisory Panel
Advisory Design Panel (2nd Alternate)
Green Team Committee (Alternate)
Maple Ridge/Pitt Meadows Chamber of Commerce

Appointments to Outside Agencies and Committees
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MAYOR AND COUNCIL

COUNCILLOR BRUCE BELL ELECTED TO COUNCIL IN 2008

COUNCILLOR BILL DINGWALL ELECTED TO COUNCIL IN 2014

COUNCILLOR JANIS ELKERTON RE-ELECTED TO COUNCIL IN 2011

COUNCILLOR TRACY MIYASHITA ELECTED TO COUNCIL IN 2008

COUNCILLOR MIKE STARK ELECTED TO COUNCIL IN 2014

Appointments
 Agricultural Advisory Committee
 Advisory Design Panel (1st Alternate)
 Pitt Meadows Airport Advisory Committee
 Fraser Basin Council Integrated Flood Hazard 

Management Committee Advisory Council 
(Alternate)

 Maple Ridge - Pitt Meadows Agricultural Association

Appointments
 Advisory Design Panel
 Joint Police Liaison Committee
 Maple Ridge - Pitt Meadows Agricultural Association 

(Alternate)
 Fraser Valley Regional Library

Appointments
 Active Transportation Advisory Committee (Alternate)
 Agricultural Advisory Committee (Alternate)
 Alouette River Management Society (Alternate)
 Chamber of Commerce serving Maple Ridge/Pitt 

Meadows (Alternate)
 Fraser Basin Council Integrated Flood Hazard 

Management Committee
 Joint Police Liaison Committee (Alternate)
 Lower Mainland Local Government Association Flood 

Control and River Management Committee (Alternate)
 Maple Ridge Pitt Meadows Youth Centre Society 

(Alternate)

 Municipal Advisory Committee on Accessibility Issues 
(MACAI)

 Pitt Meadows Day Society
 Pitt Meadows Heritage and Museum Society 

(Alternate)
 Ridge Meadows Seniors Society
 Pitt Meadows Airport Society Board of Directors

 Municipal Advisory Committee on Accessibility & 
Inclusiveness (Alternate)

 Pitt Meadows Day Society (Alternate)
 Rail Community Advisory Panel (Alternate)
 Ridge Meadows Seniors Society (Alternate)
 UBCM Malcolm Knapp Research Forest Community 

Advisory Board
 United Way of the Lower Mainland
 Metro Vancouver Board of Directors (Alternate)
   - MV Regional Parks Committee
 TransLink Mayors’ Council on Regional Transportation 

(Alternate)

Appointments
 Active Transportation Advisory Committee
 Community Events
 Emergency Program Liaison Committee
 Fraser Health Municipal Government Advisory Council

 Maple Ridge-Pitt Meadows Community Services 
Council

 United Way of the Lower Mainland

Appointments 
 Alouette River Management Society
 Chamber of Commerce serving Maple Ridge/Pitt 

Meadows (Alternate)
 Emergency Program Liaison Committee (Alternate)
 Green Team Committee
 Lower Mainland Local Government Association Flood 

Control and River Management Committee
 Maple Ridge - Pitt Meadows Community Services

 Pitt Meadows Heritage and Museum Society
 Maple Ridge Pitt Meadows Youth Centre Society
 UBCM Malcolm Knapp Research Forest Community 

Advisory Board (Alternate)
 Fraser Valley Regional Library Board (Alternate)
 Pitt Meadows Airport Society Board of Directors
 TransLink’s Mayors Council on Regional Transportation 

(Alternate)
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MARK ROBERTS, CAO
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

86 percent of Pitt Meadows is located in the floodplain, and 
the City has been working on a number of initiatives related to 
flood prevention and protection. Last spring, the City received a 
$4.6 million grant to finance a critical upgrade of the Pitt Polder 
Pump Station.  The Pitt Polder Pump Station is an essential 
piece of infrastructure for disaster mitigation, and it serves our 
local agricultural industry. The City was also awarded a grant of 
$85,000 toward a Flood Hazard Risk Assessment project, under the 
National Disaster Mitigation Program. The project will enable the 
completion of a comprehensive risk assessment of flood related 
hazards in the City’s floodplain and provide critical information 
for emergency planning and resource allocation. Thank you to 
residents who have participated in providing feedback to inform 
this project. This work will be complete in 2018. 

In 2017, the City of Pitt Meadows also became the sixth municipality in BC to certify as a Living 
Wage employer. Council felt this was an important way to show leadership and ensuring that 
families could earn a living wage when working for the City. As a certified living wage employer, 
the City is committed to paying employees and employees of externally contracted service 
providers a living wage of $20.62 per hour. 
The City also increased services to residents in 2017. We expanded to include a new Cultural 
Services department which provides support to the art community in Pitt Meadows, develops arts 
programming, manages special events, and provides direction and support to art, culture and 
heritage in the community. We also expanded our in-house emergency planning and environmental 
stewardship services, and grew our Parks and Recreation departments. We launched new online 
services for recreation registration and for online payment of bylaw ticketing, business licences and 
pet licences. Following the challenging winter of 2016-2017, Council allocated additional resources 
for snow and ice clearing in Pitt Meadows, allowing for increased response clearing of City-owned 
streets and sidewalks during snow events. 

On behalf of the City of Pitt Meadows, I am pleased to present 
this report outlining the City’s achievements over the past year, 
objectives for the future, and our financial standing in 2017. Our staff 
have worked hard to provide quality services to the community and 
undertake the many initiatives set out by Council. We are proud of 
the evolution of the municipality over the year, and our commitment 
to citizens of Pitt Meadows.
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A major undertaking last year that will shape our future work was the creation of a Civic 
Engagement Framework and Policy. This document will guide Council and staff in best practices 
on when and how to best engage with the public and how to incorporate feedback from diverse 
audiences for richer, more informed decision making. Using International Association of Public 
Participation (IAP2) principles, we will be seeking public participation on a variety of topics in the 
years to come, including the Parks and Recreation Master Plan, the Official Community Plan Review, 
and the Corporate Strategic Plan. These are all critical guidelines that help frame what we want to 
see in Pitt Meadows and where we want to go in the future, so input from the community is vital. 
Watch for opportunities to get involved.
We invite residents to contact us, come in to City Hall, and participate in committees, focus groups 
and information sessions. Our work is informed and supported by citizens, and staff work alongside 
residents so that together we can continue to build a vibrant, livable community to live, work,  
and play.

Sincerely,
 

Mark Roberts, CAO
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
CITY OF PITT MEADOWS

OUR VISION
Pitt Meadows – the “Natural 
Place”. A community of great 
natural beauty, proud of its 
heritage, with an enhanced 
quality of life and a progressive, 
sustainable future.

OUR MISSION
To protect and enhance the 
quality of life for our community 
and the unique environment 
of our area through effective 
and responsible leadership and 
community consultation. 

OUR CORE VALUES  
 Leadership
 Openness and Responsiveness 
 Service Excellence
 Accountability
 Respect and Integrity

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
Mark Roberts

RCMP
Jennifer Hyland

LIBRARY
Shawna Kristin

MUNICIPAL AUDITORS
KPMG LLP

BANKERS
Scotiabank

MAYOR & COUNCIL

CITIZENS OF PITT MEADOWS

CORPORATE 
SERVICES

Stephanie St. Jean
Communications, Human 

Resources (including 
Health & Safety and 
Payroll), Information 

Technology

CORPORATE OFFICE
Tina Penney

Customer Service, Legislative Services,  
Legal/Risk Mitigation

EMERGENCY PROGRAM
Barbara Morgan

Emergency Management, Emergency Planning, 
Public Outreach

ENGINEERING  
& OPERATIONS
Forrest Smith

Engineering, Public 
Works, Parks, Facilities, 

Environmental 
Stewardship,  
Procurement

CULTURAL SERVICES
Susann Sigmund

Arts Programming, Volunteer 
Management, Arts, Culture, Heritage, 

Special Events, Film Permitting

RECREATION
Diane Chamberlain

Program Services,  
Health & Wellness, Facility/Field/Arena 

Rentals/Contract Management, Leases/Fees 
for Service/Partnership Management

COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT

Lisa Grant
Development Services, 

Planning, Bylaw Enforcement

FIRE & RESCUE 
SERVICES
Don Jolley

Protective Services, 
Emergency Response,  

Fire Suppression,  
Training

FINANCIAL 
SERVICES

Cheryl Harding
Finance Services 

(accounting, financial 
planning, taxation, 
revenue services)
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OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER (CAO)

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS
2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

Pitt Meadows City Council is the local elected body responsible for governing our city and 
stewarding Pitt Meadows’ economic, social and environmental well-being. Council’s main 
responsibilities include establishing policies, bylaws and strategic priorities that benefit the city, and 
prioritizing the establishment of programs and services that are fiscally responsible and maximize 
overall value for community members.

The CAO is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the City and oversight of its corporate 
departments and divisions, in accordance with the objectives, policies and plans approved by Council. 
The CAO is also responsible for keeping Council up to date on corporate matters, providing guidance 
and advice to Council, and ensuring policies and bylaws are enforced.

Office of the CAO Highlights
  Executed the 2017 business plan and initiatives within the approved budget, and secured $4.87M in grant 

funding (committed)
  Facilitated a new governance structure for the Pitt Meadows Airport in partnership with the City of  

Maple Ridge, and launched a new Pitt Meadows Airport Advisory Committee
  Re-organized staff and divisions to ensure resources were aligned to best support organization and 

Council priorities (Communications, Cultural Services, Emergency Services, Administration Services)
  Completed 84% of the 55 priority initiatives identified at the beginning of the current Council term
  Continued to develop the City’s relationship with the Katzie First Nation through identification of areas for 

partnership, collaboration and programming

For the purpose of reporting, the Office of the CAO encompasses both City Council and CAO driven 
initiatives and accomplishments.
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CORPORATE OFFICER’S OFFICE

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

The Corporate Officer’s Office is responsible for the preparation and dissemination of Council 
agendas and minutes; maintenance and access to corporate records, including bylaws, policies 
and procedures; support, advice and parliamentarian responsibilities to Council and the CAO’s 
team; administration of requests under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 
legislation; execution of the local government and school district elections; management of 
liability claims against the City; and general management of the overall legal area, in the absence 
of an in-house lawyer.  

Corporate Administration Highlights
  Conducted a successful public hearing process ensuring the proper disclosure of, and access to,  

all pertinent information respecting the Golden Ears Business Park Phase 3 and 4 application.  
The public hearing on June 13, at its peak, was attended by 420 people

  Transitioned the Customer Service function into the Corporate Officer’s Office, enabling increased 
focus on the public and their inquiries

  Continued a review of processes and procedures for Council-appointed committees with the goal 
of improving consistency and transparency in their respective activities

  Reduced legal costs through introduction of the Casual Legal Services program

   Managed liability claims filed against the City effectively, efficiently and fairly
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CORPORATE OFFICER’S OFFICE CORPORATE SERVICES - COMMUNICATIONS, HR AND IT

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

Communications Highlights
  Developed a Civic Engagement Framework and Policy, working with Modus Consulting, for 

Council adoption and ongoing work to support departments in best practices to guide citizen 
engagement and partnership with the public on issues in the community

  Launched the development of a new City website, including managing the RFP process, and 
working with the vendor on new sitemaps and content organization

  Supported Council outreach with a Council highlights program including Council News 
newsletter, seasonal posters outlining Council’s work in the community

  Supported Cultural Services with public engagement on special events by facilitating 
feedback sessions with Pitt Meadows Secondary youth and seniors at the Pitt Meadows 
Seniors Centre

  Increased department with the addition of a part-time graphic designer

The Communications, HR and IT divisions make up the Corporate Services department, and 
provide internal support to the City through staff, interacting with the public, and outreach. 

Communications works with all City departments to provide strategic communications planning 
and advice, leadership and direction for marketing campaigns; media buying, media relations 
and monitoring; online strategy, design and content.  The division also provides guidance 
and support with initiatives involving civic engagement, to ensure best practices and more 
successful outcomes.

Human Resources includes organizational development, recruitment and retention, training and 
development, performance management, labour relations including administration of collective 
agreement and labour management and occupational health, safety and wellness for over 100 
employees. 

Information Technology is responsible for the day-today maintenance of the City’s network 
servers and related external infrastructure, mobile devices and business application software for 
all municipal departments. This division provides leadership for the planning, development and 
management of the City’s information technology systems.
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DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

Human Resources Highlights
  Commenced CUPE collective bargaining; provided research and recommendation to salary 

structure of exempt administrative Staff and Fire Services 
  Achieved Living Wage status following careful research, analysis, development of an 

implementation plan and application to the Living Wage campaign 
  Transitioned to new version of the Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System 

(‘WHIMIS 2015’), including new online training for staff and online safety data sheet 
management system

  Engaged and collected input from City staff regarding “employee engagement” culminating in 
a set of employee-prioritized recommendations and an action plan

  Completed risk assessments on hazardous materials, working alone, heat stress, and violence in 
the workplace. The recommendations will be reviewed and incorporated into policy changes  
as required

IT Highlights
  Facilitated an agreement with Shaw and TELUS to install and operate free public WiFi at four 

City locations
  Replaced six end-of-life enterprise servers and the City’s Storage Area Network, increasing 

capacity by 20%
  Replaced 10 end of life large-scale multi-function print devices and on-boarded 80+ staff
  Renegotiated City  mobility, internet and PRI contracts with TELUS saving the City $62K over 

3 years
  Completed second of 3 phases of billing, license and permitting system – implemented 

taxation, utility billing and online citizen service modules
  Replaced legacy work order system with new asset management & work order system fully 

integrated into Payroll and Finance systems
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Development Services Highlights
  Presented proposed Zoning, Bylaw and Official Community Plan Bylaw amendments to address 

infill housing development
  Prepared a discussion paper identifying challenges and opportunities for heritage of significant 

housing stock in the City
  Began work on the Official Community Plan (OCP) update and presented Council with plan on 

scope including consultation, challenges and areas of improvement for the OCP
  Presented a workshop on options to restrict the size of houses in the Agricultural Land Reserve 

(ALR) and limiting access to secondary housing
  Developed a new Development Procedures Bylaw which provides for additional notice and 

engagement opportunities through the development application process

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

Community Services provides guidance and services to achieve goals toward sustainable growth 
set out in the Official Community Plan (OCP). These services include community planning; short 
and long-term planning, subdivision approval; rezoning, development permit and application 
processing; building permits and inspections; management of the City’s Cross Connection Control 
program; licensing for business and dogs; bylaw enforcement; business readiness initiatives, and 
Council Advisory Committee support.

COMMUNITY SERVICES

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS



Cultural Services Highlights
  Developed the City`s new Cultural Services department to grow independent arts and culture 

services and programming in house to better support the needs and growing demand of the 
community. One of the department’s first tasks is developing the City`s first Arts, Culture and 
Heritage Strategic Plan. The plan will map out Pitt Meadows arts and cultural assets, needs, 
opportunities, resources and priorities to create strategies and action plans for the community 
to develop its cultural sector  

  Developed a new Artists in our Parks program to encourage community building and enjoyment 
of local parks and provide opportunities for artists to offer artistic events, works, and display and 
sell their works in the park

  Developed the City’s first Volunteer program and policy and purchased new Volunteer 
Management software enabling a more efficient volunteer application process and consistent 
information management across City departments

  Received a $15,000 grant from Heritage Canada to participate in the Canada 150 Mosaic Mural 
project which involved over 800 residents and resulted in a mosaic mural that hangs outside of 
City Hall as a legacy of Canada’s 150th anniversary

  Planned and implemented the opening of the City’s first Art Gallery to forge creative dialogue, 
bring attention to local art, and create new opportunities for art education, artists, and artist 
groups in the community 

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

CULTURAL SERVICES

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

Cultural Services develops and implements arts and culture initiatives, programs and activities in 
the community. This includes creating and implementing an Arts, Culture and Heritage Strategic 
Plan, encouraging support, providing leadership, engagement and education, and managing and 
maintaining the City`s Art in Public Places program and inventory. 

15,000 
(approx) people 
attending City 
Events

9 special 
events offered 210 

Gallery Volunteer Hours

87 film 
permits issued

29 special events 
permits issued

45 arts programs 
offered, & 427 
registered 
participants

506 visitors 
to the PM 
Art 
Gallery
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CULTURAL SERVICES
Engineering is responsible for the City’s infrastructure services, including transportation and transportation planning, water 
distribution, flood control, and storm water management.

Operations and Parks maintain the City’s infrastructure, as well as contribute to community livability through park maintenance. 
Services include managing and maintaining water distribution and flood control infrastructure, storm water management, and 
sewage collection; as well as maintaining the contracts for solid and organic waste and recycling collection; and managing seasonal 
services such as street sweeping, snow plowing and mosquito control. Parks staff maintain the City’s parks and trails, including park 
planning and development or redevelopment, and provide support to the Community Garden.

The Facilities division maintains all City buildings and facilities including long-term building planning and replacement planning.

Environmental Stewardship provides the City with in-house, professional environmental expertise, as well as increased compliance 
and enforcement initiatives for the protection and management of air, soils and water on development sites and agricultural lands.

The department includes a new role that procures products and services to meet the needs of the City while following best practices 
to provide cost-efficiency and value.

ENGINEERING & OPERATIONS

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

  Developed a revised traffic calming policy and 
workflow for traffic calming requests

  Continued drainage system modeling to 
determine capacity and feasibility to bring water 
into the system for irrigation purposes and 
moving water out of the system sufficiently if 
inclement weather occurs

  Prepared and submitted a comprehensive flood 

Operations & Parks Highlights
  Reviewed the Snow and Ice Removal Policy 

and made recommended changes which led to 
increased funding and service

  Transitioned public works function to 
Operations Management Software (OMS) a 
management software tool that schedules 
infrastructure repairs, tracks resources and 
manages work requests

  Established an urban forestry program including 

  Conducted facility assessments of all municipal 
buildings

  Revitalization of old Tourism building into a new 
Pitt Meadows Art Gallery

  Provided increased on-site maintenance service 
for all City buildings including a new call-for-
service system

  Worked with Katzie First Nation on Katzie 
Slough Spring Reclamation project

  Supported Watershed Watch Salmon Society 
on Farmer to Farmer Forum on the Farmland 
Advantage program

  Updates to Geographic Information Systems 
(GIS) mapping application to include updates 
on various attributes such as invasive species 
management, Metro Vancouver’s sensitive 
ecosystem inventory layer and soil-fill permits

risk assessment application to Public Safety 
Canada’s National Disaster Mitigation Program 
to inform flood risks

  Performed rail obstruction counts to document 
impacts to vehicle traffic at the city’s two grade 
crossings

  Flashing pedestrian crossing design for Airport 
Way at Southgate Road

a tree inventory and setting priorities for 
pruning, removal and replacement

  Refreshed horticulture around the civic square 
area, and conducted landscape renovations in 
other areas such as Shoreline Park, Harris Road 
traffic island at 118B St and the Art Gallery

   Addressed drainage issues and resurfacing at 
the Community Garden, allowing for further 
expansion

  Construction of a new spray park at Harris Road 
Park to open in 2018

  New Fire Hall review and conceptual design
  Review of Snow Clearing Policy for City owned 

sidewalks and parking lots

  Hosted an improved annual Earth Day event 
focusing on the theme of riparian areas, and 
provided focused and diverse eco-education 
and entertainment to over 500 Pitt Meadows 
elementary school students

  Undertook a GHG Emission Reduction 
Potentials project to explore meaningful and 
effective options for the City to develop a 
strategy for local climate action initiatives

Engineering Highlights

Facilities Highlights

Environmental Stewardship Highlights



Emergency Management coordinates the City’s training and resources for emergency 
preparedness and provides education on emergency preparedness planning. This role also 
trains, supplies, and oversees the staffing for the City’s emergency operations centre to prepare 
for activation when needed, and through a joint agreement with the City of Maple Ridge, the 
Program provides for unified emergency planning and response during a major event.

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

FINANCE

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

Emergency Management Highlights
  Promoted and participated in the annual province-wide ShakeOut BC earthquake awareness 

and drill

  Collaborated with the Insurance Bureau of Canada to host the Quake Cottage, an earthquake 
simulator at the Pitt Meadows Family rec Centre to provide community members the opportunity 
to learn about emergency preparedness and experience what an earthquake feels like

  Conducted an audit of the City’s Emergency Program, including 39 recommendations for next 
steps in the continued development of a robust and responsive program

  Arranged for operational staff training in the different sections of the BC Emergency Management 
System model (BCEMS)

  Scheduled mandatory sessions for all staff, hosted several sessions at community strata and 
senior groups

Finance Highlights
  Received an unmodified audit report related to the City’s 2016 financial statements

  Created a more robust policy to provide guidance on the quality of decisions and goals 
regarding debt issuance practices

  Established a formal policy on the appropriate level of accumulated operating budget surplus 
for purposes of mitigating current and future risks

  Received Government Finance Officers Canadian Award for Financial Reporting

  Redeveloped the City’s chart of accounts to provide a sound, methodical and efficient basis for 
effective financial and operational reporting

The Financial Services department provides long-term financial planning, develops the City’s 
annual budget, manages the City’s investment portfolio and calculates and collects property 
taxes and utilities. This department also conducts all statutory financial reporting. 
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EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
The primary mandate of the Pitt Meadows Fire Rescue Service (PMFRS) is to protect life, 
property and the environment from fire and natural or man-made emergencies. At the core of the 
department is a highly dedicated and trained group of 35-40 paid-on-call volunteer firefighters. 
Five additional career staff are responsible for department management, supervision, inspections, 
training, public education and operational readiness.  Collectively, they perform all aspects of 
department operations and respond to a wide variety of emergency incidents across four key areas:

Fire Suppression
The PMFRS responds to incidents involving or potentially involving fire.  This includes fire alarm 
activations of all types.  They assess the problem, protect lives and property, and minimize 
damage to the environment. 

Medical Response
In support of the BC Ambulance Service, PMFRS are trained as First Responders for medical 
emergencies. PMFRS responds to the most serious life-threatening calls such as heart attacks, 
major trauma, diabetics, falls/collapse, poisonings and overdoses as classified and dispatched by 
BC Ambulance Service. 

Rescue and Safety
PMFRS also responds to a wide range of other miscellaneous incidents such as motor vehicle and 
aircraft accidents, dangerous goods  spills, wires down, damage to gas lines,  and complaints of 
various types including opening burning. 

Public Education & Prevention
In order to reduce the occurrence and potential consequences of fires, the department proactively 
provides prevention & inspections programs as per the BC Fire Code. PMFRS also provides fire & 
life safety education and emergency preparedness training information and programs to a wide 
variety of community groups, including schools.  In addition the department participates with Pitt 
Meadows Secondary to facilitate the Youth Firefighter Academy to provide fire service training as 
part of the schools work experience program. 

FIRE & RESCUE SERVICES

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS
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Fire Hall Replacement
The City of Pitt Meadows is beginning 
the process for planning for the fire hall 
replacement.  In 2017, a needs assessment 
was conducted to determine the general 
building size, layout and equipment 
required for the department for the next 
25 years.  

Following completion of the conceptual 
drawing, Council and senior staff will 
participate in a workshop to assess 
feasibility, location, future department 
composition and service levels.  The facility 
is expected to be completed in 2020. 

Fire & Rescue Highlights
  Completed a full review and update of 101 

pre-incident plans, as a commitment to the 
safety of firefighters and the community

  Implemented a new False Alarm Reduction 
Strategy resulting in reduction of calls and 
enforcement

  Completed over 80 school and community 
education sessions with Pitt Meadows 
schools, community groups and the  
Youth Academy

  Updated instructional materials to full 
compliance with BC Firefighter Training 
Playbook at Full Service Competency Level

  Completed over 600 fire safety inspections 
in businesses and multi-family occupancies

702 fire 
inspections 
conducted 

Conducted  
250 member 

training sessions

Responded to 
566 calls

Conducted 99 fire  
safety education and 

youth academy sessions
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FIRE & RESCUE SERVICES

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS
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  Created an idea management system to help staff understand more clearly what customers 
would like to see in their library

 Added new lending collections and in-library experiences to the FVRL Playground

  Increased local use of the Book A Librarian program, which offers personalized help on 
technology, devices and print and digital collection exploration

  Introduced new programming focused on STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and 
Design, Math) principles to support critical literacies 

  Library hours were approved to expand to include summer Sundays for the first time, 
beginning in 2018

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS

Library Service Highlights

LIBRARY SERVICES
The Pitt Meadows Public Library, a member of the Fraser Valley Regional Library (FVRL), provides 
free access to digital resources and over one million physical items in its floating collection, including 
books, magazines, newspapers, DVDs, CDs, audiobooks, telescopes and musical instruments.

Access to FVRL 
floating print 
collection of over 
one million items

44% of 
Pitt Meadows 
residents have 
a library card

5,484 hold 
requests

298 programs 
offered with 

9,819 people 
attending

178 children’s 
programs offered 
with 5,376 people 
attending

112,065 
items 
circulated

120 adult and teen 
programs offered 
with 4,443 
people attending

4,443
ATTENDING

A collection of 
30,000 items 
housed in Pitt 
Meadows 

298
programs



  Launch of online registration software - pittfitandfun.ca was launched and marketed to the 
public on Pitt Meadows Day and provides customers with 24/7 access to register for programs

  Partnered with Recreation Excellence to operate the outdoor pool for summer, maintaining 
service levels and rates

  Purchased new equipment for the Fitness Centre based on customer feedback. The majority of 
the equipment is wheelchair accessible for which the centre received an accessibility award

  Conducted youth consultation to promote summer programs and engage youth in feedback 
about programs and the skate park

  Grant funding is vital to the Recreation department – many great programs and services begin 
with funding from grants. More than $165,000 in grant funding was received in 2017
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Recreation Service Highlights

RECREATION SERVICES
Recreation Services encourages healthy living by creating opportunities for participation in health and 
wellness, fitness, sports and recreation programs for residents of all ages. The department provides 
programming services, and operates City recreation facilities, including sport fields and ice rentals.

69,312 
admissions to the  

Pitt Meadows  
Family Rec Centre

9,453 people 
participated 
in registered 
programs

4,758 
admissions to Harris 
Road Pool in summer

1,055 children 
participated in  
day camp programs

4,368 admissions 
to the Pitt 
Meadows Arena 
for drop-in skating 
and activities.

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS
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 Worked with School District 42 to create a community protocol around safe schools

  Focused on road safety, including enforcement at high crash intersections, excessive speeding 
infractions, and strategies to reduce traffic complaints

  Installed a secure video/audio feed for Watch briefings between the main detachment and the 
Community Policing Office (CPO) which enables officers to start and stop at the CPO

  Developed a local strategy to increase knowledge of youth relating to drugs, online behaviour, 
new driver program and healthy choices

  Provided training and roll out of Narcan (Naloxone) to on-road resources to disperse in 
emergent situations

RCMP Highlights

The Ridge Meadows RCMP is contracted through the Provincial government by the City.  A wide 
range of policing services is provided to increase public safety within the community. In addition 
to reactive policing by responding to reactive calls for service, the RCMP work pro-actively and 
collaboratively with both internal and external stakeholders to meet community needs, enhance 
public safety and prevent crime. The main hub of operations, Ridge Meadows detachment, is 
located in Maple Ridge, supported by a community policing office in Pitt Meadows. Policing is 
further enhanced with specialized regional services such as the Integrated Homicide Investigation 
Team (IHIT); Integrated Forensic Identification Section (IFIS); Integrated Police Dog Service (IPDS), 
Integrated Collision Analyst Reconstruction Section (ICARS) and the Lower Mainland Emergency 
Response Team (LMERT).

RCMP POLICE SERVICES

DEPARTMENT PROFILES & HIGHLIGHTS



OBJECTIVES, MEASURES & PROGRESS
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Create a culture that is 
responsive and focused on 
customer service across the 
organization

Transitioned Customer Service function under Administration Services
Launched a recreation software platform to assist with improvements 
to customer service and online registration services
Created a snow and ice priority plan for City facilities, parks and trails, 
and proposed service level adjustments for snow and ice removal
Initiated planning and development of a new corporate website 
including stakeholder engagement, visioning and design

Be open, transparent and 
accountable in all our 
activities 

Began work on the Official Community Plan update with a report identifying 
the scope of the update including consultation, challenges and areas of 
improvement in the OCP
Awarded Government Finance Officers Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting
Expanded use of social media to include live streaming of Council 
meeting presentations, and promotion of mayor and council outreach

Engage stakeholders in 
meaningful dialogue

Worked with a consultant to facilitate, develop and implement a Civic 
Engagement Policy and Framework 
Held stakeholder and community engagement workshops to learn 
about citizen expectations, needs and desires for community events, 
arts and culture programs and activities
Established a Council-appointed Rail Community Advisory Committee to 
allow a forum for exchange of information between CP Rail and the City
Conducted several public hearings for various developments and 
rezoning applications, meeting all legislative requirements
Co-hosted Truck Traffic Information Session with the Katzie First 
Nation to discuss Bonson Road truck traffic concerns
Engaged with community stakeholders on the Safety and Security Web 
and began mapping areas where City initiatives are already underway or 
already contemplated and identified topics for further exploration
Library implemented an idea management system to hear what 
customers would like to see

Ensure we are properly 
structured and resourced to 
meet the community’s needs

Creation of a Cultural Services department to support arts, culture 
and heritage
Developed a new role for Emergency Management to better resource and 
prepare the community for emergencies and disasters

Partnered with Recreation Excellence to operate the outdoor pool, 
maintaining previous services and rates
Achieved Living Wage status, providing a living wage to staff and 
service providers
Implemented Operations Management Software (OMS) program which 
provides tools for scheduling infrastructure repairs, tracking resources and 
managing work requests

Strive to maintain 
appropriate balance of taxes 
and service levels

Realized significant, higher value-added supplier product and services 
and improved procurement practices with the introduction of a 
procurement professional
Moved recycling services under provincial Recycle BC, and contractor 
Smithrite Disposal, resulting in increased service level at a lower cost
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Corporate Excellence

2017 OBJECTIVES, MEASURES & PROGRESS

WHAT WE SAID WE WOULD DO WHAT WE ACCOMPLISHED



Provide business friendly 
customer service 

Completed Phase 2 of online services project, providing back office 
systems for taxation and utility billing, which allows businesses and 
residents access to tax and utility accounts online

Be consistent in our decision 
making

Created a more robust policy to provide guidance on the quality of 
decisions and goals regarding debt issuance practices
Redeveloped the City’s chart of accounts to provide a sound, methodical 
and efficient basis for effective financial and operational reporting
Established a formal policy on appropriate level of accumulated 
operating budget surplus to mitigate current and future risks
Established a new governance structure for the Pitt Meadows Airport

Consider business interests in 
policy development 

A draft concept zoning bylaw prepared and presented to Council, 
allowing for expansion of uses at the airport to assist with economic 
development and clarify permitted uses
Streamlined development application processes under new 
Development Procedures Bylaw

Site specific zoning bylaw amendment approved for Golden Ears 
Business Park to allow for research and development of cannabis oil 
for medical purposes to be processed and developed

Support the development of 
a viable agricultural industry

Supported a Farmer to Farmer Forum on the Farmland Advantage 
Program along with Watershed Watch Salmon Society

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

Economic Prosperity

2017 OBJECTIVES, MEASURES & PROGRESS

WHAT WE SAID WE WOULD DO WHAT WE ACCOMPLISHED
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Improve opportunities for 
residents to gather and 
connect

Supported established community events and initiated several new ones
Conducted youth consultation and engagement about recreation 
programming and special events
Expanded Youth Centre hours starting after school from 3pm to 9pm
Established the City’s first public Art Gallery and City Hall Foyer Gallery 
to provide a space for the public to gather and connect through art
Participated in the Canada 150 Mosaic Mural project, involving citizen 
participation  creating a legacy landmark piece of Canada’s 150th 
anniversary
Library added new lending collections and in-library experiences
Conducted an Accessibility Assessment review of parks and open 
space to ensure accessibility is included in future park planning

Provide and encourage a 
community conducive to 
safe, healthy living

Fire & Rescue Services conducted over 80 educational sessions with 
schools, community groups and in the Youth Academy
Fire & Rescue completed a full review and update of 101 pre-incident 
plans for the safety of firefighters and the community
Purchased new Fitness Centre equipment based on customer feedback
RCMP worked with School District 42 to create community protocol 
around safe schools, assigned to RCMP members to each school
RCMP focused on road safety, particularly enforcement at high crash 
intersections, excessive speeding infractions, and strategies to reduce 
traffic complaints
RCMP received Narcan (Naloxone) training to on-road resources to 
disperse in emergent situations
Promoted the annual province-wide ShakeOut BC earthquake 
awareness and drill
Collaborated with Insurance Bureau of Canada to host the Quake 
Cottage earthquake simulator providing the community with 
earthquake preparedness information
Prepared and submitted a comprehensive flood risk assessment 
application to Public Safety Canada’s National Disaster Mitigation 
Program to inform flood risks

Provide the conservation and 
enhancement of our natural 
environment

Included updates an various attributes of environmental mapping, such 
as invasive species management, Sensitive ecosystem inventory layer and 
soil-fill permits
Invasive species mitigation and monitoring
Self watering planters were installed around the municipal complex to 
reduce water consumption
Identified gaps on protection and management of provincially 
regulated riparian areas and drafted an interim policy
Undertook a GHG Emission Reduction Potentials project to explore 
meaningful and effective options for the City to develop a strategy 
for local climate action initiatives

Encourage diversity in the 
range and mix of housing 
types

Community consultation on infill housing which consisted of open 
houses. Presented proposed Zoning Bylaw and Official Community 
Plan Bylaw amendments to address infill housing development
Presented a discussion paper to Council identifying challenges and 
opportunities for heritage of significant housing stock in the city
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Economic Prosperity Community Livability

2017 OBJECTIVES, MEASURES & PROGRESS

WHAT WE SAID WE WOULD DO WHAT WE ACCOMPLISHED



Proactively plan for 
replacement of our 
infrastructure

An updated pavement management study was completed
Drainage system modelled to determine capacity and integrate work 
into the Integrated Water Management Master Plan

Determine levels of service 
and properly fund

Asset management plans were completed to provide sustainable 
maintenance and replacement funding models
A new Community Amenity Policy adopted by Council guiding 
residential rezoning applicants to pay an amenity fee per unit or lot to 
support community impacts
Completed upgrade of City’s taxation and revenue management 
software, a major enterprise software upgrade
Completed upgrade of the City’s core financial software, a major 
enterprise software upgrade

Build capacity in our 
community by supporting 
initiatives that support 
sustainability

Drainage issues addressed and resurfacing completed at the 
Community Garden, providing opportunities for expansion
Reconfiguration of Bonson Road and 120B Ave, and Ford Road and 
Baynes intersections to improve pedestrian safety
Facilitated bike awareness and Learn to Ride programs at three Pitt 
Meadows elementary schools (the fourth completed the program in 2016)

Diversify the methods by 
which people can get in, 
around, and out of the 
community

Bikeway design completed for 122 Ave and 193 St, with 
implementation to follow in 2018
Performed rail obstruction counts to document impacts to vehicle 
traffic at grade crossings

WHAT WE SAID WE WOULD DO WHAT WE ACCOMPLISHED
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Transportation and Infrastructure

2017 OBJECTIVES, MEASURES & PROGRESS
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2018 OBJECTIVES, LOOKING AHEAD

Corporate Excellence

Create a culture that is 
responsive and focused on 
customer service across the 
organization

Develop a Customer Service  Response Policy that outlines roles, re-
sponsibilities and expectations and inquiry response rates, including 
continuing monitoring for effectiveness
Complete Phase 3 of online city services; including planning and 
building processes
Conduct a review of the current facility booking process to find effi-
ciencies, improved customer service and streamlined procedures to 
meet community, programming and event needs
Service delivery review of parks services for efficiencies, cost savings 
or potential increased services
Launch new city website with online service and resources

Be open, transparent and 
accountable in all our 
activities

Implement new Civic Engagement Framework and Policy
Develop enhanced reporting tools for management of budget activi-
ties resulting from significant software system changes in recent years
Continue to monitor, communicate and report on Council’s Strategic 
Plan and Department Business Plans
Administer the upcoming municipal election in accordance with the 
Local Government Act and the School Act

Engage stakeholders in 
meaningful dialogue

Provide engagement opportunities to the public on a variety of issues 
in the community
Engage with the public to review the Official Community Plan and 
revise vision and values for the community
Develop a new committee governance structure that provides an 
efficient, effective and improved interactive relationship with Council, 
committee members, and the community
Work with the Katzie First Nation to raise awareness within the or-
ganization and within the community of the Truth and Reconciliation 
Call to Actions 

Ensure we are properly 
structured and resourced to 
meet the community’s needs

Build organizational capacity by growing our people and facilitating 
development of their skills, knowledge and abilities
Review, revise and sign updated Joint Agreement with City of Maple 
Ridge outlining Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) roles and re-
sponsibilities, including parameters for activating a joint EOC

Strive to maintain 
appropriate balance of taxes 
and service levels

Establish a fees and charges bylaw by collating all present fees and 
charges that are provided elsewhere within City bylaws, policies and 
practices
Service Delivery review of parks services for efficiencies, cost savings 
or potential increased services
Develop an Asset Management Policy that will guide staff in carrying 
out the City’s business strategies,  plans and activities and to clearly 
outline integration of asset management within the City to ensure 
coordinated, cost-effective and organizationally sustainable

COUNCIL PRIORITY OUTCOME: WHAT WE WILL DO IN 2018



33  

Provide business friendly 
customer service 

Continue Phase 3 of billing, permitting, licensing and taxation system 
to provide online service to businesses

Be consistent in our decision 
making

Continue to advance and implement the goals of the City’s 
Corporate Strategic Plan

Develop a long term community strategy that combines financial 
forecasting with financial/asset management strategies to ensure 
long term sustainability for the City

Develop a long-term 25-year plan, spanning multiple Council terms, 
to empower the City to be a more effective steward of resources 
and to ensure current decisions grow the community in a purposeful, 
strategic manner that favours long term sustainability

Initiate a process to create a Pitt Meadows Parks and Recreation 
Master Plan

Consider business interests 
in policy development

Host a farmer-to-farmer forum regarding sustainable farming 
practices and stream-side protection through the Investment 
Foundation of BC and the Ministry of Agriculture

Consider business interests 
in policy development 

Integrate numerous new complex fire inspections at Onni Phase 2 
and YPK into current department inspection program

Support the development of 
a viable agricultural industry

Continue to work to restrict size of houses in ALR following 
amendment bylaw presented to Council in late 2017
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2018 OBJECTIVES, LOOKING AHEAD

Economic Prosperity
COUNCIL PRIORITY OUTCOME: WHAT WE WILL DO IN 2018

Create a culture that is 
responsive and focused on 
customer service across the 
organization

Develop a Customer Service  Response Policy that outlines roles, re-
sponsibilities and expectations and inquiry response rates, including 
continuing monitoring for effectiveness
Complete Phase 3 of online city services; including planning and 
building processes
Conduct a review of the current facility booking process to find effi-
ciencies, improved customer service and streamlined procedures to 
meet community, programming and event needs
Service delivery review of parks services for efficiencies, cost savings 
or potential increased services
Launch new city website with online service and resources

Be open, transparent and 
accountable in all our 
activities

Implement new Civic Engagement Framework and Policy
Develop enhanced reporting tools for management of budget activi-
ties resulting from significant software system changes in recent years
Continue to monitor, communicate and report on Council’s Strategic 
Plan and Department Business Plans
Administer the upcoming municipal election in accordance with the 
Local Government Act and the School Act

Engage stakeholders in 
meaningful dialogue

Provide engagement opportunities to the public on a variety of issues 
in the community
Engage with the public to review the Official Community Plan and 
revise vision and values for the community
Develop a new committee governance structure that provides an 
efficient, effective and improved interactive relationship with Council, 
committee members, and the community
Work with the Katzie First Nation to raise awareness within the or-
ganization and within the community of the Truth and Reconciliation 
Call to Actions 

Ensure we are properly 
structured and resourced to 
meet the community’s needs

Build organizational capacity by growing our people and facilitating 
development of their skills, knowledge and abilities
Review, revise and sign updated Joint Agreement with City of Maple 
Ridge outlining Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) roles and re-
sponsibilities, including parameters for activating a joint EOC

Strive to maintain 
appropriate balance of taxes 
and service levels

Establish a fees and charges bylaw by collating all present fees and 
charges that are provided elsewhere within City bylaws, policies and 
practices
Service Delivery review of parks services for efficiencies, cost savings 
or potential increased services
Develop an Asset Management Policy that will guide staff in carrying 
out the City’s business strategies,  plans and activities and to clearly 
outline integration of asset management within the City to ensure 
coordinated, cost-effective and organizationally sustainable
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Improve opportunities for 
residents to gather and 
connect

Develop a Special Events marketing plan including a social media 
strategy for events

Expand Arts and Culture programming for the community

Develop recommendations under a new Arts & Culture Strategic Plan

Develop an annual exhibition and programming schedule and space 
rental policy for the Pitt Meadows Art Gallery and the City Hall Foyer 
Gallery Community Art Space

Offer new technology based programs at the Library using 
technologies such as Sphero Sprk+, makey makey, green screens and 
virtual reality

Provide and encourage a 
community conducive to 
safe, healthy living

Additional play equipment for MacLean Park for primary and 
preschool aged children

Expanded children and youth programming through Recreation 
Services

Initiate a process to build a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 
prepared under joint services and integrate where applicable into the 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan process

Develop a city-wide recognition program

Bring Emergency Social Services in-house but manage jointly per the 
Joint Agreement with Maple Ridge

Continue Flood Risk Assessment with National Disaster Mitigation 
Program

Develop neighbourhood emergency preparedness program to 
encourage citizens and neighbourhoods to develop their own 
emergency strategies

Begin implementing 39 recommendations identified in the 
Emergency Program Assessment

RCMP to increase excessive speed enforcement, increase impaired 
driving charges, and work with ICBC partnership

RCMP increased response to social issues, including mental health 
response and strategies; focus on response to youth issues; and 
actively respond to human displacement issues

Provide the conservation and 
enhancement of our natural 
environment

Implement and support an Adopt-a-Trail program

Host a riparian planting and maintenance event with community 
groups and individuals to ecologically benefit a select area along 
Katzie Slough

Conduct an environmental inventory and management strategy, 
including public consultation

Encourage diversity in the 
range and mix of housing 
types

Consider policy statements on affordable housing from the Housing 
Action Plan throughout the Official Community Plan review

Further consultation and analysis on infill housing

2018 OBJECTIVES, LOOKING AHEAD

Community Livability
COUNCIL PRIORITY OUTCOME: WHAT WE WILL DO IN 2018
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Proactively plan for 
replacement of our 
infrastructure 

Continue planning of new Fire Hall
Complete work to assess condition of City facilities, and create a 
Facilities Assessment Implementation plan

Upgrades to community facilities including South Bonson Community 
Centre and Heritage Hall

Kennedy Road Pump Station replacement 2 year project 

Determine levels of service 
and properly fund

Refine the City’s asset management plan with the drainage condition 
assessments and potable water supply condition assessments done 
in 2017

Build capacity in our 
community by supporting 
initiatives that support 
sustainability

Promote and support a Zero Waste campaign, maximizing education, 
outreach and action
Support the Adopt a Trail program

Diversify the methods by 
which people can get in, 
around and out of the 
community 

Update the Traffic Calming Policy
Review the Highway and Traffic Bylaw

Establish a working group inclusive of both the City of Pitt Meadows 
and Katzie First Nation to guide improvements along Bonson Road
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2018 OBJECTIVES, LOOKING AHEAD

Transportation and Infrastructure

COUNCIL PRIORITY OUTCOME: WHAT WE WILL DO IN 2018

Improve opportunities for 
residents to gather and 
connect

Develop a Special Events marketing plan including a social media 
strategy for events

Expand Arts and Culture programming for the community

Develop recommendations under a new Arts & Culture Strategic Plan

Develop an annual exhibition and programming schedule and space 
rental policy for the Pitt Meadows Art Gallery and the City Hall Foyer 
Gallery Community Art Space

Offer new technology based programs at the Library using 
technologies such as Sphero Sprk+, makey makey, green screens and 
virtual reality

Provide and encourage a 
community conducive to 
safe, healthy living

Additional play equipment for MacLean Park for primary and 
preschool aged children

Expanded children and youth programming through Recreation 
Services

Initiate a process to build a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 
prepared under joint services and integrate where applicable into the 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan process

Develop a city-wide recognition program

Bring Emergency Social Services in-house but manage jointly per the 
Joint Agreement with Maple Ridge

Continue Flood Risk Assessment with National Disaster Mitigation 
Program

Develop neighbourhood emergency preparedness program to 
encourage citizens and neighbourhoods to develop their own 
emergency strategies

Begin implementing 39 recommendations identified in the 
Emergency Program Assessment

RCMP to increase excessive speed enforcement, increase impaired 
driving charges, and work with ICBC partnership

RCMP increased response to social issues, including mental health 
response and strategies; focus on response to youth issues; and 
actively respond to human displacement issues

Provide the conservation and 
enhancement of our natural 
environment

Implement and support an Adopt-a-Trail program

Host a riparian planting and maintenance event with community 
groups and individuals to ecologically benefit a select area along 
Katzie Slough

Conduct an environmental inventory and management strategy, 
including public consultation

Encourage diversity in the 
range and mix of housing 
types

Consider policy statements on affordable housing from the Housing 
Action Plan throughout the Official Community Plan review

Further consultation and analysis on infill housing



STATEMENTS



2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

37  

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The preparation of the Financial Statements and related information is the responsibility of City Council and the 
management of the City of Pitt Meadows; and is intended to provide reliable and accurate financial information on the 
state and health of the City’s finances to residents, businesses, taxpayers and other statement readers.  The reporting 
results include the City’s service delivery partners:  Ridge Meadows RCMP, Maple Ridge Pitt Meadows Joint Parks and 
Leisure Services to October 31, 2016, Fraser Valley Regional Library and Nustadia Recreation Inc.  
The financial statements and related information are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) for Canadian local governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada.
The City Council appointed auditors, the public accounting firm of KPMG LLP, have given the City an unmodified audit 
opinion on the City’s financial statements.  In their professional opinion the statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the City of Pitt Meadows as at December 31, 2017 and the results of its operations 
and changes in cash flows for the year then ended.  The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional financial 
information and describe and disclose any significant accounting policies the City follows.
In addition, the City maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance for 
safeguarding assets and the reliability of financial records and documents.   City of Pitt Meadows management recognizes 
that all systems of internal accounting controls have inherent weaknesses, which management mitigates by periodic 
reviews and revisions.   Council oversaw all City financial matters for 2017 including the budget process, review of auditor 
reports and recommendations, and review of operational and capital information.

May 1, 2018 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Pitt Meadows

Members of Council:

I am pleased to present the Financial Statements of the City of Pitt Meadows 
for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City of Pitt Meadows Financial Statements consists of the following four statements:

STATEMENT PURPOSE

Statement of Financial Position This statement lists the City’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities, totalling to 
the accumulated surplus or deficit.   The difference between the financial assets and the 
liabilities is termed net financial assets if a positive result occurs, or net financial debt if a 
negative result occurs.

Statement of Operations This statement summarizes revenues raised in the year to fund operating and capital 
needs, lists expenses explaining the cost of goods and services consumed during the 
year (including amortization of assets), how the organization changed in net value for the 
period (surplus or deficit), and the new accumulated surplus at year end.

Statement of Changes in Net 
Financial Assets (Net Debt) 

This statement shows all revenues against all operating expenses and tangible capital 
asset expenditures to calculate whether the City had an increase in net financial assets 
or decrease in net financial assets (net debt).   This statement is important as it reports 
the extent to which annual expenditures (cost of goods and services) are met with the 
revenues recognized within the year.

Statement of Cash Flows This statement reports the change to cash and cash equivalents (highly liquid invest-
ments readily convertible to cash) for the year.  It shows how the City financed its op-
erating, capital, investing, and financing activities and met its cash commitments.   The 
ending balance represents a pool of cash or ready sources of cash that a government 
has available to meet its ongoing activities, obligations and emergencies. 

For 2017, the City’s results show $51.512M in 
financial assets and $31.175M in liabilities resulting 
in a net positive outcome of $20.338M in net 
financial assets, providing funds for future activities 
and placing no immediate financial burden on short 
term budgets.

The City’s healthy $194.196M 
accumulated surplus in 2017 is up by 
$3.244M over 2016

The City’s non-financial assets list all Tangible Capital Assets (TCAs) the City owns, as well as inventories and prepaid 
expenses, with the TCAs making up a significant portion of the total.  A net reduction in non-financial assets indicates 
the annual disposal of assets combined with the annual amortization exceeds annual capital replacements, meaning 
that assets are being used up faster than being replaced.  For 2017, the City decreased its non-financial assets with the 
purchase of $4.968M in new assets and $63,000 in inventories, offset by $331,000 in asset disposals and write downs 
combined with $5.242M in TCA amortization and $8,000 in prepaid expense use, for a net reduction in non-financial 
assets of $550,000.  An on-going challenge for the City is to annually generate enough revenue to fund capital reserve 
contributions needed to offset the future amortization of TCAs. This is a national issue as all municipalities across 
Canada struggle with funding to replace aging infrastructure.  

The City’s accumulated surplus is equivalent to the private sector’s equity section on the balance sheet.  Due to 
significant investment in TCAs, the City, like other local governments, has a large accumulated surplus.  The City’s 
healthy $194.196M accumulated surplus in 2017 is up by $3.244M over 2016.  

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
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The City generated $35.608M in revenues in 2017, used $32.364M of those revenues to provide services and 
infrastructure, resulting in a $3.244M surplus.   This is derived from a $30,000 General Fund operating surplus; a 
$274,000 Water Fund operating deficit; a $63,000 Sewer Fund operating surplus; a $8,000 Solid Waste operating surplus 
& a $96,000 Drainage Fund operating deficit; $3,745,000 net increase to reserves after funding capital projects and a net 
decrease in TCA’s of $232,000.

The City generated $35.608M in revenues from external sources and developer contributions.  This amount was reduced by 
$27.122M in goods and services consumed ($32.364M in operating expenses less $5.242M in TCA amortization expenses) for 
a net operating increase in financial assets of $8.486M.  The City sold and wrote down assets valued at $331,000, used $7,000 
in prepaid expenses, and acquired $63,000 of inventories, increasing the net financial assets to $8.762M.   The $8.762M mostly 
financed net tangible capital acquisitions of $4.968M, resulting in an increase to net financial assets of $3.794M bringing net 
financial assets at the end of the year to $20.338M.

In 2017, the City generated $12 million in cash from operating activities, and utilized $4.897M to finance net capital 
acquisitions, invested $8.344M in interest bearing instruments, and received $2.191M in development cost charges less 
debt repayments for a net $958,000 increase to cash.   The $958,000 increase is the result of investment transfer activity to 
accommodate timing related to year end banking deadlines for payment processing. The City has similar quantity of cash or 
ready sources of cash to meet emergency and short term needs as it did in 2016.  The new balance of $2.718M in cash and 
cash equivalents is deemed to be sufficient to meet the City’s short term cash flow needs.

The new balance of $2 .718M in cash and cash equivalents is deemed to be 
sufficient to meet the City’s short term cash flow needs.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
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The General, Sewer, and Solid Waste Operating Funds each recorded small surpluses in 2017 of $30,000, $63,000, and $8,000 
respectively.   The Water Operating Fund recorded a $274,000 deficit due to higher than usual water consumption during the 
summer months and the Drainage Operating Fund deficit of $96,000 is attributed to $32,000 of increased hydro costs and 
$64,000 increased maintenance primarily related to emergency field repairs.  In accordance with the City’s Surplus Policy, the 
General Fund surplus will be used to provide emergency funding, augment revenue shortfall, generate interest revenues, and 
provide for any unfunded liabilities.  The Solid Waste Operating Fund surplus will be used to provide funding to smooth out 
potential future rate increases.

Collectively, the City exceeded its $32.065M 2017 operating budget for expenses, coming in at $32.364M which is primarily the 
result of $356,000 related to water purchase volumes from Metro Vancouver.  The City’s largest expense is salaries and wages, 
including benefits, at $8.211M, comprising approximately 25% of all expenses, followed by Protective Services contracted 
services of $5.2M at 16% of all expenses and Recreation contractual services of $4.347M at 13% of all expenses.

The breakdown of expenses by department is shown in the segmented disclosure Note 16(a).

Operating Surplus/Deficit 

Expenses

The General, Sewer, and Solid Waste surpluses were $30,000, $63,000, and 
$8,000 respectively

The City budgeted to collect $39.119M in total revenues for 2017.   The actual amount of revenues collected was $35.608M, 
resulting in a $3.510M variance.   Most of the variance is from $4.132M government grants (including $4.3M which is dependent 
on the timing of the construction of the Area 4 Pitt Polder pump station currently underway) and $201,000 licenses, permits, 
penalties & fines, offset by $329,000 contributions by others (including $410,000 road use levies).
The City’s primary sustainable revenue source is property taxation budgeted at $18.880M, and comprises approximately 48% of 
total operating revenues.   Revenues are generated from the seven different property classes by multiplying the assessed value of 
individual properties by the tax rate set for that property class.
Municipal utility fees are the second highest sustainable source of revenue comprising approximately 23% of total budgeted 
operating revenues.  The City budgeted to collect $9.098M from its utilities and received $9.153M in actual fees, resulting in a 
revenue budget surplus of $55,000. 
Sale of Services is the third highest sustainable source of revenue budgeted at $$2.650M.  The actual amount of revenues 
received was $2.955M, generating a budget surplus of $305,000.

The breakdown of revenues by department is shown in the segmented disclosure Note 16(a).

Revenues

Operating Results

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The City has a healthy $40.395M in reserve and development levy funds to support the planned capital projects and the City’s 
operating commitments.   This is an increase of $5.815M over the 2016 total of $34.580M.

Significant transactions affecting the increase include:  $835,000 Road Use Levies; $810,000 other third party contributions; 
$2.429M in levies collected from developers; $451,000 in interest earnings; $3.394M to fund roads, vehicles & equipment, 
lifecycle and other capital reserves; $1.144M facilities replacement reserve; and $2.079M utility capital reserves.  The reserve 
and development levy increases were offset by $5.327M used to fund capital and operating projects.

While the reserve fund balances would appear to be significant, it should be noted that the majority of these funds have been 
designated for specific future projects and activities by City Council.

RESERVE AND DEVELOPMENT LEVY FUND BALANCES

The Community Charter restricts the City to the amount of long term liabilities it can commit to, as well as the process 
it must undertake to incur debt (including capital lease commitments). The legislation limits the borrowings to a 
percentage of annual sustainable revenues that can be allocated to the servicing of debt.   The City is restricted to 
allocating 25% of its annual sustainable revenues to the servicing of debt and capital leases with the approval of the 
electorate, and 5% with Council approval.

Financing capital improvements through debt is an important consideration and a standard funding practice utilized by all 
municipalities, especially as cities become built out and the more traditional methods of financing through land sales and 
developer contributions are not as prevalent.  Pitt Meadows continued to carry a low debt-per-capita ratio in 2017.  The 
debt-per-capita ratio decreased from $345 in 2016 to $328 in 2017, based on the Province of BC Statistics 2017 population 
estimate of 19,580 as at April 2018.   The $328 debt per capita ratio is well within the City’s financial capacity.

The 2017 Financial Plan included repayments to the three outstanding debt issues the City carries with the Municipal Finance 
Authority for the expansion and renovation of the Civic Centre Parkade, the Arena acquisition and construction as well as the 
construction of the South Bonson Community Centre.

The particulars of these three borrowings can be viewed in Note 8 to the Financial Statements. 

Borrowing Capacity

Current Borrowings

DEBT

City revenues are strategically set aside by Council in reserves to protect the 
City against unanticipated events that can trigger budget deficits, to balance 
programs and activities that tend to fluctuate  each year, and to finance long-
term capital needs or contingent liabilities.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The City of Pitt Meadows invests its excess operating and capital funds in accordance with its Investment Policy and the statutory 
requirements of the Community Charter.   The investment decisions and strategies strive to maximize the return on investments 
while minimizing portfolio risk, and ensuring that daily and future cash flow requirements are aligned and met.   Generating 
high rates of return on investments held in the City’s investment portfolio presented a challenge again in 2017, partly due to 
continued lower short term rates and the restrictive nature of the City’s investment policy to protect public funds.   In 2017, the 
City’s $45.812M total investment and cash portfolio increased by $9.301M from the 2016 total of $36.511M.   Average annual 
yield to the portfolio in 2017 was 1.62% versus 1.52% in 2016 and the investment portfolio generated $544,000 in interest 
revenue in 2017, a 33.7% increase over the $407,000 in 2016.  The interest revenue increased due to the 0.1% increase in 
average annual yield as well as the increase in the total investment portfolio which is a result of the City’s ongoing efforts to build 
sustainable asset funding within the reserves.

The City of Pitt Meadows owns and maintains a significant amount of physical assets comprised of roads, bridges, traffic signal 
controls, sewer and water systems (reservoirs, pipes, pumps, etc.) equipment, vehicles, parks, facilities, and other amenities.  
Tangible capital assets represent a significant portion of municipal government assets, and are crucial to the delivery of 
programs and services, operations and life safety.   The collective worth of the City’s assets at the end of 2017 is estimated to be 
approximately $172 M, calculated at historical cost as required by accounting guidelines (PSAB).

The breakdown of the tangible capital assets is shown in Note 9.

Although the historical cost is significant, the replacement cost of the assets would be substantially more.   The City utilizes these 
assets to deliver the services and programs the community relies on, preparing annual five year capital plans that are mostly 
comprised of the cost of maintaining, replacing or upgrading this large and diverse inventory to keep them in a state of good 
repair.   Some of the infrastructure has been used for some time, and some has been recently upgraded or replaced through 
capital budget programs.
The City’s actual tangible capital expenditures were approximately $4.968M in 2017, funded from taxation, reserves, development 
levies and grants.   Significant community capital projects continuing, completed or started in 2017 include replacement of Pitt 
Polder Pump Station #4; Municipal Billing System Upgrade Phase 2; Neaves Rd Bike Lanes; Paving Rehabilitation on Rannie Rd, 
and Bonson Rd; and Various Pedestrian Improvements; Waterline Replacements on Wildwood Crescent and McKechnie Road; and 
Harris Road Culvert relocation.
In order to maintain services, it is important that the City, at a minimum, replace its assets at a rate equal to the rate assets are 
being amortized (used up) keeping in mind that amortization is based on historical costs rather than replacement costs, which 
can be significantly different.  On this basis, the City’s 2017 amortization of $5.242M should be measured against the City’s 2017 
actual capital expenditures of $4.968M, recognizing that the differences from year to year should be analyzed over a 50 to 100 year 
infrastructure plan to determine trends, potential gaps and funding shortfalls.

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

The City utilizes these assets to deliver the services and programs the community 
relies on, preparing annual five year capital plans that are mostly comprised of 
the cost of maintaining, replacing or upgrading this large and diverse inventory
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The City operates four self-balancing utility services to its residents and businesses, three of which are funded entirely by user 
fees (water, sewer, solid waste) and the fourth by taxation on assessed property value and user fees (storm drainage). 
Water, sewer and solid waste services are directly delivered to each individual property, and therefore, each user is directly billed 
for the provision of these services.   The user fees collected pay for City operational and capital infrastructure costs, and also 
are used to pay Metro Vancouver for the supply of regional services.   The fees paid to Metro Vancouver comprise a significant 
portion of these user fees; 60% of the total cost of $2.224 for sewer collection and treatment; 63% of the total cost of $4.205M 
for water purchases and supply; and 13% of the total cost of $792,000 for solid waste services.
The storm drainage utility is a service that is not delivered to any one particular property but is provided throughout the City as a 
community service, and therefore, is allocated like other public services through taxation on an assessed value basis to fund and 
operate a network of drainage pipelines and water courses to collect storm water.

UTILITIES (WATER, SEWER, SOLID WASTE, STORM DRAINAGE)

In 2017, the City managed over 21,000 City asset components, encompassing land, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and 
vehicles, collectively valued at $172M.   One of the most crucial aspects of financial sustainability is the stewardship over the 
City’s assets.   Without the ongoing replacement and proper maintenance of these assets the City could not continue to deliver 
the services to the same level the community enjoys today.   
The City of Pitt Meadows follows and supports the recommendations of accounting oversight bodies and government agencies 
to implement sound accounting, management and reporting practices over tangible capital assets.   The City fully appreciates 
the long term financial benefits of deploying financial stewardship policies, as well as the positive impact they have on overall 
sustainability.
In 2017, the City reaffirmed its strategy to build sustainable asset funding into its base budget by setting aside $7M in reserve 
funding.  The City continues to deploy reporting asset management systems, including a Cartegraph Operations Management 
Software System to systematically track and analyze assets and related expenditures so sound repair or replacement decisions 
are made.  The City also operates a Graphical Interface System to track physical asset locations.
The City continues to develop asset management plans and condition assessments for its assets to better quantify the 
infrastructure funding gap and re-consider the initial assumptions that were made regarding asset valuations.  

The City recognizes that it must strive to be financially sustainable, and along with regional and two senior levels of government, 
develop long term sustainable funding and service models that address service and infrastructure models.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
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The City of Pitt Meadows developed a comprehensive and consultative strategic planning process that set out the goals and 
objectives of Council for its four year term, 2015 to 2018, in a Strategic Plan document.  This high-level Strategic Plan is linked with 
the Corporate Business Plans that assigned projects to departments to meet Council’s goals and objectives.   Individual departments 
developed more detailed work plans that dovetailed with the City’s budget process and the City’s 5 Year Operating and Capital 
plans to ensure adequate funding and resources were provided for the 2017 budget.
The linking of shorter term plans and budgets gives residents, businesses and other agencies confidence that decisions are well 
thought out, providing the City with long term planning continuity and sustainability.  To ensure results of the long term planning are 
both tracked and monitored, the City deploys a suite of computerized accounting, planning and resource management systems.  
Council communicates with the community through interactive budget meetings to allow public input and to gauge public response 
to financial and business plans.   The City also engages the community through a variety of forums, exchanges and surveys utilizing a 
variety of social media tools including the City’s website, facebook and twitter.

City Council recognizes that a sustainable community must balance the services and level of services it delivers with the ability of 
its residents and businesses to sustain the funding of the services.  The City has a number of taxation policies that have been well 
established over time that establish tax allocations to property classes, acceptable proportions of taxation versus user fees and 
permissive exemptions.
Some services need to be sustained and financed by the community at large through taxation.  This provides equal access by all 
citizens to ensure the health, safety and well-being of the Community.  Other services need to be delivered on a user fee basis 
to ensure the demand is matched to the willingness to pay, and that a certain portion of the cost is recovered from the users 
demanding the service.  The City is committed to increasing the overall proportion of revenue from non-residential classes through 
growth and development while working to ensure that the amount of property taxes paid by business and industry does not harm 
the ability for existing businesses to operate effectively in the community and is not a deterrent for business considering locating in 
the community.  The City will regularly review and compare the tax ratio between residential property owners and business owners 
relative to other municipalities in Metro Vancouver.
City Council recognizes that a sustainable community must include certain religious, philanthropic, cultural and historical institutions, 
and therefore, uses its legislative powers to grant tax exemptions to applicants of this nature to assist these important community 
stakeholders with their financing.
In closing, I would like to thank City Council for providing their direction and leadership, the Chief Administrative Officer, Directors 
and their respective departments for their cooperation and input throughout the year, as well as staff in Financial Services for their 
continuing dedicated service and professionalism.

STRATEGIC AND FINANCIAL PLANNING AND REPORTING

FISCAL CAPACITY

Cheryl Harding,           Director of Financial Services Chief Financial Officer

City Council recognizes that a sustainable community must balance the services 
and level of services it delivers with the ability of its residents and businesses to 
sustain the funding of the services.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As At December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016

2017 2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  $2,718,175  $1,759,992 

Portfolio Investments (Note 2)  43,094,318  34,750,502 

Accounts Receivable (Note 3)  5,699,883  4,650,964 

 51,512,376  41,161,458 

Liabilities   

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  1,485,718  1,082,218 

Other Government Payable  4,315,159  2,551,478 

Contractor Holdbacks  306,283  217,758 

Prepaid Taxes  1,696,030  1,678,267 

Refundable Deposits (Note 4)  1,895,335  1,596,771 

Deferred Revenue (Note 5)  2,634,328  680,541 

Employee Benefit Liability (Note 6)  640,700  574,800 

Development Cost Charges (Note 7)  11,780,124  9,441,710 

Debt (Note 8)  6,421,134  6,794,651 

  31,174,811  24,618,194 

Net Financial Assets  20,337,565  16,543,264 

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) 172,002,354 172,607,904 

Inventories of Supplies 252,335 189,685 

Prepaid Expenses & Lease 1,603,624 1,610,841 

173,858,313 174,408,430 

Accumulated Surplus (Note 10)  $194,195,878  $190,951,694 

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (Note 12)  

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cheryl Harding, Director of Financial Services

John Becker, Mayor
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See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016

2017 Budget 2017 Actual 2016 Actual

Revenues (Note 15)

Municipal Property Taxes (Note 14)     $18,880,100  $18,975,606  $17,739,254 

Parcel Taxes  22,100  19,880  19,880 

Private Utility Company Taxes  274,500  285,296  282,187 

Water Levy  4,158,500  4,205,277  3,953,784 

Sewer Levy  2,224,400  2,223,939  2,024,328 

Drainage Levy  1,793,700  1,794,643  1,694,752 

Solid Waste Levy  784,200  792,061  1,399,301 

Diking Levy  137,100  137,260  137,178 

Sale of Services  2,650,400  2,954,753  2,326,840 

Licenses, Permits, Penalties, and Fines     1,103,000  901,724  867,261 

Investment Income  475,000  543,740  407,309 

Government Grants (Note 13)  5,340,750  1,208,461  593,193 

Contributions by Developers  552,600  514,307  158,395 

Contributions by Others  722,385  1,051,542  1,235,940 

 39,118,735  35,608,489  32,839,602 

Expenses

General Government Services  5,012,684  4,859,783  4,491,771 

Protective Services  7,444,538  7,011,933  6,526,816 

Transportation Services  3,826,815  4,370,776  3,613,704 

Water Services  3,269,460  3,603,139  3,091,677 

Sewer Services  1,824,412  1,760,727  1,648,469 

Drainage Services  1,582,746  1,675,360  1,587,758 

Solid Waste Services  740,800  757,649  1,227,478 

Diking Services  237,474  222,287  157,088 

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services  7,501,566  7,544,382  6,704,985 

Planning Services  624,150  558,269  544,709 

 32,064,645  32,364,305  29,594,455 

Annual Surplus  $7,054,090  3,244,184  3,245,147 

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year  190,951,694  190,951,694  187,706,547 

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year  $198,005,784  $194,195,878  $190,951,694 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016

2017 Budget 2017 Actual 2016 Actual

(Note 15)

Annual Surplus  $7,054,090  $3,244,184  $3,245,147 

Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition (17,670,066) (4,967,603) (3,768,822)

Amortization  5,242,211  5,242,211  5,220,118

Proceeds from disposal  -  70,285 -

Loss on disposal  -  260,657 152,433

(12,427,855)  605,550 1,603,729

Inventories of Supplies

Acquisition  - (285,578) (217,704)

Use  -  222,928  176,345 

 - (62,650) (41,359)

Prepaid Expenses & Lease

Acquisition  - (210,176) (174,654)

Use  -  217,393  182,202 

 -  7,217  7,548 

Increase (Decrease) in Net Financial Assets (5,373,765)  3,794,301 4,815,065

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 16,543,264 16,543,264  11,728,199 

Net Financial Assets, End of Year  $11,169,499  $20,337,565  $16,543,264 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016

2017 Actual 2016 Actual
Operating Transactions
Annual Surplus  $3,244,184  $3,245,147 
Items not utilizing cash:

    Development Cost Charge Revenue Recognized (Note 7) (225,871) (87,367)
    Contribution of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9)  - (9,828)
    Amortization  5,242,211  5,220,118 
    Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  260,657  152,433 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities:
    Accounts Receivable (1,048,919) (461,156)
    Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  403,500  84,122 
    Other Government Payable  1,763,681 (615,626)
    Contractor Holdbacks  88,525  176,343 
    Prepaid Taxes  17,763  103,617 
    Refundable Deposits  298,564  938,368 
    Deferred Revenue  1,953,787  134,831 
    Employee Benefit Liability  65,900  55,000 
    Inventories of Supplies (62,650) (41,359)
    Prepaid Expenses & Lease  7,217  7,548 

    Cash Provided by Operating Activities  12,008,549  8,902,191 
Capital Transactions  
Proceeds on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  70,285  - 
Cash Used to Acquire Tangible Capital Assets (4,967,603) (3,758,994)

Cash Used in Capital Activities (4,897,318) (3,758,994)
Investing Transactions
Purchase of Investments (75,569,564) (34,080,465)
Redemption of Investments  67,225,748  27,972,139 

    Cash Used in Investing Activities (8,343,816) (6,108,326)
Financing Transactions
Development Cost Charge Receipts and Interest  2,564,285  1,790,947 
Repayment of Long Term Debt (373,517) (356,484)

Cash Provided in Financing Activities 2,190,768  1,434,463 
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 958,183  469,334 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year  1,759,992  1,290,658 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year  $2,718,175  $1,759,992 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City was incorporated as a District Municipality in 1914 under the Municipal Act (now a combination of the Community Charter 
and the Local Government Act), a statute of the Province of British Columbia.  Effective January 1, 2007, the articles of incorporation 
of the municipality were changed by an Order in Council of the provincial government to reflect a change in its name to the City of 
Pitt Meadows.  Its principal activities include the provision of local government services to the residents of the incorporated area.  
These services include community planning, protective, transportation, recreational & cultural, solid waste, water, sewer, drainage 
diking services and general government.

(a) Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements of the City of Pitt Meadows are prepared in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants Canada. 
The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and accumulated surplus of the 
reporting entity which is comprised of all organizations that are controlled or owned by the City, including the Pitt Meadows 
Economic Development Corporation which was incorporated on March 5, 2010 and is currently in-active.  Inter-entity 
balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank balances, highly liquid money market investments and short-term 
investments with maturities of less than 90 days at acquisition. 

(c) Portfolio Investments
Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Investment premiums and discounts are amortized over the term of the 
respective investment.  Investments are written down when there is considered to be a permanent decline in value.

(d) Deferred Revenue
The City defers a portion of the revenue collected from permits, licenses and other fees and recognizes this revenue in the year 
in which related inspections are performed or related expenditures are incurred.

(e) Government Transfers
Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the financial statements when the transfer 
is authorized, any eligibility criteria are met, and the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated except to the extent 
that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability.  Transfers are recognized as deferred 
revenue when the transfer stipulations give rise to a liability.  Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations as 
the stipulation liabilities are settled.

(f) Debt
Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(g) Employee Future Benefits
The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan.  The Municipal Pension Plan is a multi-employer 
contributory defined pension plan.  These contributions are expensed as incurred.  
The City also accrues sick leave, deferred vacation, supplementary vacation, vacation in year of retirement, overtime and service 
severance benefits.  The liability relating to these benefits is actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement 
ages and expected future salary and wage increases.  The liability under this benefit plan is accrued based on projected benefits 
as the employees render services necessary to earn the future benefits. The discount rate used to measure obligations is based on 
the cost of borrowing.  The cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining 
service life of active employees covered under the plan.

(h) Liability for Contaminated Sites
Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or sediment of a chemical, organic or 
radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an environmental standard.  Any liability is recorded net of any expected 
recoveries.  A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when all the following criteria are met:

a)  an environmental standard exists;
b)  contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
c)  the City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
d)  it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up;
e)  a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of remediation and post-remediation including operation, 
maintenance and monitoring that are integral parts of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site.

(i) Non Financial Assets
Tangible capital and other non financial assets are reported as assets as they can be used to provide government services in 
future periods.  These assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities unless they are sold.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets 
Tangible Capital Assets, including capital work-in-progress, are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are 
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development and betterment of the assets. Interest incurred during 
construction is capitalized.  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

The cost, less residual value, is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Road Infrastructure    20 to 100 years

Drainage & Sewer Infrastructure  30 to 80 years

Water Infrastructure   10 to 80 years

Sewer Infrastructure   30 to 80 years

Other Infrastructure   50 to 100 years

Buildings     20 to 50 years

Land Improvements   20 to 30 years

Vehicles     5 to 20 years

Equipment and Furnishings   4 to 10 years

Amortization commences when the asset is put into service.
Diking Infrastructure consists of dikes and ditches which are not amortized since they do not deteriorate as long as they are 
maintained properly.
Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of contribution as contributed revenue.

Works of art and culture are not recorded in these financial statements.

(ii)  Inventories of Supplies 
Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of actual cost and replacement cost.  

(j) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recorded on the accrual basis and recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that give 
rise to the revenues.  Revenue unearned in the current period is recorded as deferred revenue until the services are provided.
Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been authorized and the taxable 
event occurs.  Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general administrative services are recorded as taxes 
for municipal services in the year they are levied.  Taxes receivable are recognized net of an allowance for anticipated 
uncollectable amounts.  Levies imposed by other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes.  
Unrestricted revenue for the sale of goods and services are reported as revenue at the time the services or products are 
provided.  
Contributions for specific purposes are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized as revenue in the year in which the 
related expenses are incurred.
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(k) Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized in the period the goods and services are acquired and a liability is incurred or transfers are due.

(l) Tax Collections for Other Governments
The City is required by legislation to bill and collect taxes on behalf of other governments.  These revenues and payments 
are not included in the City’s financial statements.

(m) Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the period.  Significant areas requiring use of management estimates relate to the determination of 
employee benefit obligations, useful lives of tangible capital assets, valuation of contributed assets and liabilities associated 
with legal claims. As such, actual results could differ from those estimates.  

(n) Segment Disclosures
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is appropriate to 
separately report financial information.  The City has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial 
information in Note 16.

(o) Budget Information 
Budget information, presented on a basis consistent with that used for actual results, was included in the Five Year Plan and 
was adopted by Council on March 28, 2017.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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2017 Market 2017 Cost 2016 Cost
Money market mutual funds $1,661 $1,661 $1,656

Fixed income Canadian corporate paper & bonds 45,022,088 43,092,657 34,748,846

$45,023,749 $43,094,318  $34,750,502  

The City’s portfolio of investments include money market mutual funds and fixed income Canadian corporate paper and bonds.  
The fixed income instruments have stated rates of return ranging from 1.03% to 2.91% (2016 – 1.00% to 3.98%), with varying 
maturity dates up to July 25, 2022 (2016 - August 3, 2022).   It is the City’s practice to buy and hold investments to maturity in 
order to realize the stated rate of return.

2017 2016
Property taxes and utilities $  2,084,405 $  2,168,837

Federal government agencies 359,926 125,379

Provincial government 212,607 15,487

Other government 213,561 423,368

General receivables 947,408 789,043

Development Installments 1,881,976 1,128,850

$  5,699,883  $  4,650,964  

Development installments represent funds due from developers and others on a financing arrangement within two years. The 
City holds letters of credit as security for these amounts.

Balance  
December 31, 

2016

Amounts  
Received

Revenue 
Recognized

Balance  
December 31, 

2017

Contract work $    201,251 $    107,008 ($  129,366) $      178,893

Building (Construction) 93,500 57,000 (50,000) 100,500

Engineering Services 1,001,163 238,639 (87,046) 1,152,756

Parks & Recreation 30,100 42,085 (28,600) 43,585

Other 270,757 273,854 (125,010) 419,601

$    1,596,771  $  718,586 ($  420,022) $    1,895,335  

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

4. REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

2. PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS
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Balance  
December 31, 2016

Amounts  
Received

Revenue 
Recognized

Balance  
December 31, 2017

Business and dog licenses $    43,116 $    85,678 ($  43,116) $      85,678

Major road network funding 503,100 208,150 (39,103) 672,147

Engineering fees 31,953 33,335 - 65,288

Parks & Recreation fees 26,459 110,906 (54,564) 82,801

Pump station grant - 1,976,251 (357,666) 1,618,585

Other 75,913 105,422 (71,506) 109,829

$  680,541  $  2,519,742 ($  565,955) $    2,634,328  

The City provides non-vested sick leave, service severance, overtime bank, and vacation benefits to its employees.  These 
benefits are described as follows:

a) Non-Vested Sick Leave: Regular full-time employees are entitled to a sick leave benefit of 1.5 days for each month of 
service which may be accumulated to a maximum of 261 days. Regular part-time employees are entitled to a sick leave 
benefit of 1 day (pro-rated) for each month of service which may be accumulated to a maximum of 75 days.

b) Service Severance: Upon retirement, employees are eligible for a payout of 3 days per year of service accumulated paid 
at his or her current rate of pay.  Employees leaving the service of the employer, other than on retirement or layoff who 
have completed 8 or more years of service are eligible for a payout of 1 day per year of service paid at his or her current 
rate of pay.

c) Overtime Bank: Employees may accumulate overtime hours in a bank.  Upon termination, retirement or death, accrued 
overtime is paid out at his or her current rate of pay.

d) Deferred Vacation: Employees may defer a portion of their annual vacation entitlement. Employees in the collective 
bargaining unit who are entitled to 25 vacation days or more are subject to a maximum accumulation of 20 days. Exempt 
employees are subject to a maximum of 15 days.

e) Supplementary Vacation: Employees are entitled to 5 days of supplementary vacation every five years.  Employees in 
the collective bargaining unit are entitled commencing the fifteenth year of service.  Exempt employees are entitled 
commencing the fifth year of service.  The supplementary days must be used during the five year period following 
entitlement. 

f) Severance, deferred vacation and sick leave plans do not provide medical or dental coverage as part of the benefit 
provided, therefore medical and dental is not included in the valuation.

5. DEFERRED REVENUE

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITY CONTINUED
Information about obligations for employee sick leave, overtime, vacation and retirement benefits are as follows:

2017 2016
Accrued Benefit Obligation, beginning of year $   652,800 $   652,400

Current Service Cost 94,200 65,900

Interest Cost 24,400 21,600

Employer Contributions (61,800) (45,400)

Actuarial loss/(gain) 37,300 (41,700)

Accrued Benefit Obligation, end of year $   746,900   $   652,800

Unamortized net actuarial loss (106,200) (78,000)

Accrued Benefit Liability $   640,700 $   574,800

The most recent actuarial valuation of the City’s employee benefit obligation was calculated as at July 31, 2015 and was 
extrapolated to December 31, 2017.  The extrapolation has been adjusted to reflect the increase of approximately 25% in the 
number of employees eligible for benefits since the last valuation of benefits was performed.  This is due to the provision of Parks 
& Recreation services moving from a cost sharing agreement with the City of Maple Ridge to an independent service model 
provided by the City of Pitt Meadows effective November 1, 2016. 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the City’s accrued benefit obligations include estimated future wage 
increases and the following. 

2017 2016
Discount Rate  3.00% 3.40% 

Expected Future Inflation Rate  2.00% 2.50% 

Expected Average Remaining Service Life 11 years 11 years

Balance  
December 31, 2016

Developer 
Contributions

Interest 
Earnings

Capital 
Expenditures

Balance  
December 31, 2017

Major Roads $ 3,143,678 $ 990,567  $ 41,132 $   (2,500)          $ 4,172,877

Minor Roads 2,580,016 240,005 39,386 (216,218) 2,643,189

Sewer 62,824 97,025 173 - 160,022

Water 72,011 34,767 20 - 106,798

Drainage 900,083 193,983 11,055 (3,390) 1,101,731

Parks 2,683,098 873,269 42,903 (3,763) 3,595,507

$ 9,441,710 $ 2,429,616 $ 134,669 $ (225,871) $ 11,780,124

7. DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
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Debt includes long-term debt and temporary borrowing as follows:

2017 2016
Long-term debt (a) $ 5,858,715 $ 6,232,232

Temporary Borrowing (b) 562,419 562,419

$ 6,421,134 $6,794,651

a)  Long-term debt: 
The City obtains debt financing through the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA)  in accordance with the Community Charter to 
finance certain capital expenditures.  Sinking fund balances managed by the MFA are offset against related long term debt.  

Bylaw Purpose Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate

Authorized Repayments 
& Actuarial 

Adjustments

2017 2016

2368 Civic Centre Parkade 2035 3.73% $ 2,600,000 $ 493,099 $ 2,106,901 $ 2,185,896

2408 Arena Acquisition 2025 3.73% 2,175,000 857,928 1,317,072 1,454,514

2429 Community Centre 2033 2.00% 3,141,602 706,860 2,434,742 2,591,822

$7,916,602 $2,057,887 $ 5,858,715 $ 6,232,232

Future principal repayments on net outstanding debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

The City paid $183,775 in interest on long-term debt during the year (2016 - $203,140)

Regular principal payments are not required, but funds borrowed under this program must either be repaid or converted to long term 
borrowing through a debenture issue by March 2019.  The outstanding balance bears interest at the Canadian Dollar Offer Rate plus 
0.5% which is paid monthly.  
The City paid $8,940 in interest on temporary borrowing during the year (2016 $7,807)

Year Amount

2018 $    382,174

2019 391,178

2020 400,542

2021 410,280

2022 420,408

Thereafter 3,854,133

$ 5,858,715

b)  Temporary Borrowing: 
The City has temporary capital financing through the Municipal Finance Authority Interim Financing program for the following 
capital project:  

Authorized 2017 2016
Drainage Utility, Bylaw 2430 $  4,500,000 $   562,419 $  562,419

8. DEBT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan).  The board of 
trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets 
and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  Basic pension benefits are based on 
a formula.  As at December 31, 2016, the plan has about 193,000 active members and approximately 90,000 retired members. 
Active members include approximately 38,000 contributors from local governments.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding.  
The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan.  The actuary’s 
calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and 
employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan.  This rate may be adjusted for the 
amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.
The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015, indicated a $2,224 million funding surplus for 
basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  As a result of the 2015 basic account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant 
to the joint trustee agreement, $1,927 million was transferred to the rate stabilization account and $297 million of the surplus 
ensured the required contribution rates remain unchanged.  
The City of Pitt Meadows paid $591,482 (2016 - $458,733) for employer contributions while employees contributed $497,654 
(2016 - $385,696) to the plan in fiscal 2017.
The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019.
Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the 
fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting).  This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets 
for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual 
employers participating in the plan.

2017 2016
Current Year Surplus (Deficit)

  General Fund $         30,474 $       75,379 

  Water Fund  (274,391) 51,998

  Sewer Fund 63,127 39,888

  Drainage Fund (95,803) 82,438

  Solid Waste 7,966 108,024

Appropriated Surplus

   Statutory Operating Reserves 3,685,501 3,436,745

   Statutory Capital Reserves 25,197,784 21,343,969

 28,614,658 25,138,441

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 165,581,220 165,813,253

  Total Accumulated Surplus $  194,195,878 $ 190,951,694

Accumulated Surplus includes Equity in Tangible Capital Assets, Current Year Surplus and Statutory Reserves as follows:

10. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

11. MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN
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a) The City is a member of the Municipal Insurance Association (MIA), which operates under a reciprocal insurance exchange 
agreement.  The main purposes of the exchange agreement are:  (1) to pool the risk of third party liability claims against member 
municipalities (approximately 170) in order to allow for stable financial planning related to those liability claims; and (2) to engage 
in broad risk management strategies to reduce accidents or occurrences that may result in liability claims against the City.  The City 
is assessed an annual premium by MIA based on factors such as population, administrative costs, premium tax and re-insurance 
costs.  MIA is subject to financial oversight by the Provincial Government.

b) The City self insures for certain potential financial losses arising from the penetration of water into building envelopes (“leaky 
buildings”) and acts of terrorism, for any claims made after January 1st, 2002.

c) The City has cost sharing agreements with the City of Maple Ridge to provide services in a more efficient and cost effective manner.  
These agreements cover the provision of all parks and leisure services, and police housing and support services.  The costs are 
shared on the basis of proportionate population, and Council can terminate the agreement(s) by providing four months to one year’s 
notice. In October 2015, Maple Ridge provided the City of Pitt Meadows with notice that the 21 year old Joint Services Agreement 
for Parks & Leisure Services would conclude on October 31, 2016. As a result, Pitt Meadows transitioned to an independent service 
model effective November 1, 2016 for Parks, Recreation, Arts, Culture & Heritage Services. 

d) The City has a long-term service agreement with another organization for the provision of fire and public works dispatch services.  
This agreement has an annual cost of approximately $36,000 and will expire on December 31, 2019.

e) The City has been named defendant in a number of claims that are currently pending.  In determining their estimated exposure 
the City has relied upon their understanding of the claims, including activities undertaken by the other parties, as well as 
discussions with legal counsel.    In the opinion of management, the amount of any loss from these claims cannot be reasonably 
estimated, nor can the likelihood of their outcomes be known at this time.  Therefore, management has made no provision for 
these claims and any future settlement will be accounted for in the year of settlement.

f) As at December 31, 2017 there were various property assessment appeals pending.  The outcome of those appeals may result in 
adjustments to property taxes receivable for the current and prior years.  The City has made no specific provision for these appeals 
as the outcome is indeterminable.  Management does not expect any material adjustments to occur from appeals.

g) The City is a member of E-Comm, an organization comprised predominately of member municipalities, for the purpose of 
providing emergency dispatch services.  The City is represented on the board, and as a Class ‘A’ shareholder has voting rights 
should the organization want to incur additional debt.  The E-Comm facility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism 
and members are liable for a proportionate share of that debt.  This debt is repaid by members through annual fees charged by 
E-Comm.  Should E-Comm dissolve, members would be liable for a proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively should 
a member choose to opt out of E-Comm, they would be liable for a proportionate share of debt at the time of withdrawal.

h) The City leases approximately 12,200 square feet of space at 12059 Harris Road, Pitt Meadows for the Pitt Meadows Library.  
The lease commenced March 1, 2012 for a term of ten years.  The annual minimum rent is $151,000 and is subject to annual CPI 
increases in the second five year period of the term.

i) In 2013 the City leased approximately 9,500 square feet of space in a senior’s residential facility for the purposes of operating 
a Senior’s Centre.  The term of the lease is forty years plus a 20 year renewal option.  The rent for the initial 40 year term was 
$1,549,506, which was prepaid at the commencement of the lease in 2013.

j) The City has an Operating and Maintenance Agreement with Nustadia Recreation Inc. for the operation and maintenance of 
the Pitt Meadows Arena.  The agreement was effective May 1, 2011, with an initial term of five years and four optional renewal 
periods.  The first of four renewal terms has been executed for the period May 1, 2016 to April 30, 2021. An annual management 
fee of $100,000 is payable under the agreement (adjusted annually for inflation), with payments due in equal monthly installments.

k) The City has a long-term service agreement with the Province of British Columbia for the provision of police services by the Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police with an annual cost of approximately $3.9 million.  The current agreement commenced April 1, 2012 
with an expiry date of March 31, 2032.

12. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
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2017 2016

Federal Conditional

  Canada 150 Fund $   15,000 $             -

  Celebrate Canada 2,750 -

  Community Infrastructure Water Spray Park 90,508 -

Provincial Conditional

  Active Communities 4,218 -

  Carbon Tax 18,704  18,675

  Integrated Summer Programs 5,931 -

  National Disaster Mitigation Flood Hazard Risk Assessment 32,607 -

  New Building Canada Fund Pump Station Replacement 357,666 -

  TransLink Major Road Network 39,103 52,436

  TransLink MRN Bike Lanes 180,000 -

Provincial Unconditional

  Small Communities 165,826 168,065

  Traffic Fines 189,623 221,444

Regional Conditional

  BC Hydro LED Lighting - 15,829

  Risk Management 168 8,500

  Workplace Conservation - 2,581

Regional Unconditional

  Gas Tax 106,357 105,663

$     1,208,461 $     593,193

13. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
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The budget amounts which are presented for comparative purposes reflect the statutory balanced budget as adopted by Council on 
March 28, 2017.
The following reconciles the balanced statutory budget to the budget surplus reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations:

2017 Budget
Surplus as per Financial Plan Bylaw No. 2751, 2017 $                   -

Add: 
     Capital expenditures 17,670,066
     Debt principal repayments 373,500
     Transfer to reserves 8,354,200

$   26,397,766

Less:
     Transfer from reserves (14,101,465)
      Amortization expense (5,242,211)
Budget Surplus, as per Consolidated Statement of Operations $     7,054,090        

2017 Budget (Note 15) 2017 Actual 2016 Actual
Municipal Property Taxes:
  Residential $ 11,132,216 $ 11,225,866 $ 10,752,906
  Utilities 247,567 247,567 238,466
  Major Industry 136,696 136,697 131,677
  Light Industry 1,516,251 1,515,471 810,155
  Business 5,073,209 5,074,796 5,060,018
  Recreational/Seasonal 243,246 243,246 234,310
  Farm 530,915 531,963 511,722
Total Municipal Property Taxes $ 18,880,100 $ 18,975,606 $ 17,739,254

Levies for Other Authorities:
  Provincial School Taxes 9,015,158 8,768,916
  TransLink 1,592,012 1,547,139
  British Columbia Assessment Authority 262,573 251,952
  Greater Vancouver Regional District 258,994 247,311
  Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia 1,112 872
Total Levies for Other Authorities 11,129,849 10,816,190

Total Tax Levies $ 30,105,455 $ 28,555,444

14. TAXATION AND OTHER LEVIES

15. BUDGET
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2017 Budget
Surplus as per Financial Plan Bylaw No. 2751, 2017 $                   -

Add: 
     Capital expenditures 17,670,066
     Debt principal repayments 373,500
     Transfer to reserves 8,354,200

$   26,397,766

Less:
     Transfer from reserves (14,101,465)
      Amortization expense (5,242,211)
Budget Surplus, as per Consolidated Statement of Operations $     7,054,090        

For reporting purposes, City activities have been aggregated into functional segments based on the services each activity 
provides.  The Segmented Disclosure Note (16(a)) reports the revenues and expenses that are directly attributable to each 
functional segment.  The following describes the services included in each segment:

General Government Services
The General Government segment includes administration, legislative, financial, human resources, information technology and 
sustainability services. This also contains municipal property taxation and penalties and interest charged thereon, taxes in lieu, 
return on investments, and interest paid on development cost charge funds and tax prepayment accounts.

Protective Services
The Protective Services segment includes Police services provided by the RCMP and support services by the City of Maple 
Ridge, fire protection, bylaw enforcement, business licensing, building inspection, animal control and emergency program 
services.

Transportation Services
The Transportation Services segment includes engineering, operations administration, and roads maintenance services.

Utility, Solid Waste and Diking Services
The Utility, Solid Waste and Diking Services segment includes drainage, water, and sewer utility services, the solid waste 
collection and disposal service and diking services.

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services
The Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services segment includes parks and recreation services provided by the City of Maple Ridge 
to October 31, 2016, then by the City of Pitt Meadows as of November 1, 2016, Library services provided by the Fraser Valley 
Regional Library, and the operations of the Pitt Meadows Arena.

Planning Services
The Planning Services segment includes services for managing development and community planning.

16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
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2017 Actual 2017 Budget

General 
Government 

Services
Protective 
Services

Transportation 
Services

Utility, Solid 
Waste, Diking 

Services

Parks, 
Recreation, 

Cultural 
Services

Planning 
Services Consolidated Consolidated

Revenues (Note 15)
Municipal Property and Other Taxes $ 19,280,782 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $ 19,280,782 $ 19,176,700
Utility,Solid Waste, Diking Levies - - - 9,153,180 - - 9,153,180 9,097,900
Sale of Services 292,140 171,875 253,660 144,121 2,089,355 3,602 2,954,753 2,650,400
Licenses, Permits, Penalties, Fines 182,210 338,054 51,378 35,051 23,125 271,906 901,724 1,103,000
Investment Income 543,740 - - - - - 543,740 475,000
Grants and Contributions 480,678 32,165 1,283,112 548,373 149,182 280,800 2,774,310 6,615,735

20,779,550 542,094 1,588,150 9,880,725 2,261,662 556,308 35,608,489 39,118,735
Expenses

Salaries and Benefits 2,786,150 1,517,313 1,271,656 607,645 1,530,706 497,644 8,211,114 8,244,700
Contracted Services 959,471 5,199,734 1,102,492 1,409,702 4,347,295 57,005 13,075,699 13,529,584

Supplies, Materials and Equipment 302,975 145,239 420,273 292,473 173,286 3,620 1,337,866 1,193,550
Purchase of Water and Sewer Levy - - - 4,008,887 - - 4,008,887 3,653,000
Amortization 576,043 133,026 1,649,345 1,415,972 1,467,825 - 5,242,211 5,242,211
Loss on Disposal 4,879 - 238,333 6,446 10,999 - 260,657 -
Interest Charges 218,931 - - 8,940 - - 227,871 201,600
Recoveries 7,140 10,471 (196,133) 169,531 8,991 - - -
Equipment Replacement Provision 4,194 6,150 (115,190) 99,566 5,280 - - -

4,859,783 7,011,933 4,370,776 8,019,162 7,544,382 558,269 32,364,305 32,064,645
Annual Surplus $ 15,919,767 $ (6,469,839) $ (2,782,626) $  1,861,563 $ (5,282,720) $    (1,961) $  3,244,184 $   7,054,090

2016 Actual 2016 Budget

General 
Government 

Services
Protective 
Services

Transportation 
Services

Utility, Solid 
Waste, Diking 

Services

Parks, 
Recreation, 

Cultural 
Services

Planning 
Services Consolidated Consolidated

Revenues

Municipal Property and Other Taxes $ 18,041,321 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $              -                 $ 18,041,321 $ 18,116,578
Utility,Solid Waste, Diking Levies - - - 9,209,343 - - 9,209,343 9,373,700
Sale of Services 286,570 59,400 305,674 1,928 1,670,296 2,972 2,326,840 2,012,400
Licenses, Permits, Penalties, Fines 205,377 357,588 19,494 36,759 19,460 228,583 867,261 1,058,000
Investment Income 407,309 - - - - - 407,309 490,000
Grants and Contributions 516,429 69,031 842,862 317,668 180,338 61,200 1,987,528 6,086,155

19,457,006 486,019 1,168,030 9,565,698 1,870,094 292,755 32,839,602 37,136,833
Expenses

Salaries and Benefits 2,515,679 1,388,188 1,095,135 618,016 299,145 515,804 6,431,967 6,165,843
Contracted Services 824,135 4,860,290 775,882 1,624,313 4,834,688 23,101 12,942,409 13,758,302

Supplies, Materials and Equipment 311,134 128,490 396,848 403,036 39,991 1,804 1,281,303 1,329,755
Purchase of Water and Sewer Levy - - - 3,323,890 - - 3,323,890 3,508,500
Amortization 601,000 136,286 1,620,889 1,386,014 1,475,928 - 5,220,117 5,220,118
Loss on Disposal - - 31,600 66,818 54,015 - 152,433 -
Interest Charges 234,529 - - 7,807 - - 242,336 212,541
Recoveries 3,335 8,544 (193,190) 178,024 767 2,520 - -
Equipment Replacement Provision 1,959 5,018 (113,460) 104,552 451 1,480 - -

4,491,771 6,526,816 3,613,704 7,712,470 6,704,985 544,709 29,594,455 30,195,059
Annual Surplus $ 14,965,235 $ (6,040,797) $  (2,445,674) $  1,853,228 $ (4,834,891) $  (251,954) $  3,245,147 $  6,941,774

16. (A) SEGMENTED INFORMATION - SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE

17. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.66  
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2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Population, 2013 – 2017

Business Licenses, 2013 – 2017

18,757
18,822

19,683

18,573

19,580

2013 20152014 2016 2017

580
692

813 860
903

2013 20152014 2016 2017

Building Permit Construction Values, 2013 – 2017
Year Residential Commercial Other * Total

 $ Million  $ Million  $ Million  $ Million 

2017  15.19  1.00  11.54  27.73 

2016  12.08  1.31  9.62  23.01 

2015  21.79  4.76  37.32  63.87 

2014  31.37  1.54  10.08  42.99 

2013  17.08  0.75  23.61  41.44 

Source:  Demographic Analysis Section,  BC Stats Population Estimates 2013 - 2015 and 2017; Stats Can Census 2016

Source: City of Pitt Meadows Development Services Department

*Agricultural, Industrial, Institutional
Source: City of Pitt Meadows Development Services Department
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Miscellaneous Statistics, 2013 – 2017

Column1 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Voters on Voter's List 12,372 12,576 12,576 12,576 12,576

Municipal Employees (all groups) 71 74 71 98 124

Number of Properties (roll numbers) 6,890 6,998 7,001 7,238 7,243

Number of Housing Starts 154 88 54 18 105

Number of Business Incorporations 101 114 122 87 84

Number of Municipal Fire Hydrants 473 477 481 481 481

Total Paved Roads (kms) 114 114 114 114 114

Total Sanitary Sewer Pipes (kms) 48 49 49 49 49

Total Water Pipes (kms) 111 113 113 113 113

Total Dikes (kms) 61 61 61 61 61

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 $40,000,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Contributions by Developers 
and       Others
Government Grants

Investment Income

Licenses, Permits, Penalties,
Penalties and Fines

Sale of Services

Utility, Solid Waste, and Diking
Levies

Municipal Property and Other
Taxes

Revenues By Source, 2013 – 2017

Source:  Various Departments of the City of Pitt Meadows, BC Assessment and BC Statistics

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Property Tax Collections,  Other Major Levies and Collections,  
2013 – 2017

2017 Assessed Taxable Values
Class For General 

Purposes
% of Taxable Value % of General 

Taxation

1 - Residential  $3,859,512,725 84.98% 59.17%

2 - Utilities  7,097,675 0.16% 1.30%

4 - Major Industrial  4,070,700 0.09% 0.72%

5 - Light Industrial  112,523,300 2.48% 7.99%

6 - Commercial  514,764,378 11.33% 26.74%

8 - Recreation  25,724,800 0.57% 1.28%

9 - Farm  17,675,881 0.39% 2.80%

Totals  $4,541,369,459 100% 100%

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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Property Tax
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Class General Drainage School TransLink BCAA MFA GVRD Total

1 - Residential  2.9108  0.1177  1.4701  0.2193  0.0432  0.0002  0.0469  4.8082 

2 - Utilities  34.8800  1.4100  13.4000  2.4992  0.4981  0.0007  0.1642  52.8522 

4 - Major Industrial  33.5804  1.3583  1.9200  1.8756  0.4981  0.0007  0.1595  39.3926 

5 - Light Industrial  13.4750  0.5450  4.8000  1.3442  0.1393  0.0007  0.1595  20.4637 

6 - Commercial  9.8554  0.3990  4.8000  1.0772  0.1393  0.0005  0.1149  16.3863 

8 - Recreation  9.4557  0.3825  2.7000  0.2105  0.0432  0.0002  0.0469  12.8390 

9 - Farm  30.0361  1.2147  3.4500  0.3531  0.0432  0.0002  0.0469  35.1442 

2017 Mill Rates (Per $1,000 Assessed Taxable Values)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Province of BC - School Tax  $9,015,158  $8,768,916  $8,510,720  $8,079,746  $7,868,205 

TransLink  1,592,012  1,547,139  1,571,687  1,505,505  1,480,019 

BC Assessment Authority  262,573  251,952  250,439  240,550  236,225 

Greater Vancouver Regional 
District

 258,994  247,311  240,513  221,599  223,660 

Municipal Finance Authority  1,112  872  799  741  726 

 $11,129,849  $10,816,190  $10,574,158  $10,048,141  $9,808,835 

Collections for Other Taxing Authorities, 2013 – 2017 

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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C72 M100 Y0 K0C72 M100 Y0 K50 C30 M40 Y3 K0 C15 M22 Y0 K0 C8 M10 Y0 K0C48 M65 Y0 K6
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Land & Improvements
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- 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 
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North Vancouver City
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North Vancouver District
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Municipal Tax + Utility Fees Other Taxing Authorities

Assessed Values for General Municipal Purposes, 2013 – 2017

Property Tax & Utility Charges on Average Home, 2017

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department & Ministry of Municipal Affairs & Housing   
   

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows
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Registered Owner Total Tax Levy

Onni $2,509,278

Canadian Pacific Railway Co $2,488,613

0790792 BC Ltd $1,419,845

0810968 BC Ltd $1,143,969

Pitt Meadows Airport Society $567,527

Country Lane Enterprises $562,631

Ron Jones Ltd $294,170

Ford Rd Housing Co op $214,974

DCP Industries $194,453

Pitt Meadows Hospitality Inc $170,268

Meadow Highlands Co op $155,330

Harris Rd Housing Co op $140,391

MR Landmark 2000 Centre $133,374

Jade Agencies Ltd $129,460

Telus $128,984

0900908 BC Ltd $120,002

Vansea Holding Ltd $118,598

Fortis BC $115,559

Meadow Gardens Golf Course $112,372

Purewal Blueberry Farms Ltd $109,654

374933 BC Ltd $108,363

Pitt Meadows Golf Course $99,642

Meadowland Housing Co op $86,040

CJAD Holdings $67,496

LRP Investments $66,190

Includes Municipal & Other Taxing Authorities   
Source: City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Principal Corporate Taxpayers in Pitt Meadows, 2017 

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows
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Organization Property Address Years of 
Exemption

Authority to Grant 
Exemption

Municipal 
Tax

Statutory Exemptions (Provincially Exempted)

Community of Christ 
Meadowridge Congregation 
Church

 19089 Advent Road  5  Section 220 (1) (h)  $667 

Grace Community Evangelical 
Free Church

 12240 Harris Road  5  Section 220 (1) (h)  6,818 

Calvary Chapel Ridge 
Meadows 

 #3 19040 Lougheed Highway  5  Section 220 (1) (h)  12,416 

Pitt Meadows Community 
Church

 12109 Harris Road  5  Section 220 (1) (h)  1,092 

Total Statutory Exemptions  $20,993 

Permissive Exemptions (Council’s Consideration)

Community of Christ 
Meadowridge Congregation 
Church

 19089 Advent Road  5  Section 224 (2) (f)  905 

Grace Community Evangelical 
Free Church

 12240 Harris Road  5  Section 224 (2) (f)  5,795 

Pitt Meadows Lions Hall 
Society

 12479 Harris Road  5  Section 224 (2) (a)  2,189 

Pitt Meadows Athletic 
Association

 Harris Park (Allocated Portion)  5  Section 224 (2) (i)  2,818 

Pitt Meadows Museum Society  12277 Harris Road  5  Section 224 (2) (a)  7,133 

Pitt Meadows Community 
Church

 12109 Harris Road  5  Section 224 (2) (f)  11,546 

 Total Permissive Exemptions  $30,386 

 Total Statutory and Permissive Exemptions  $51,379 

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Permissive Exemptions 
Bylaw No. 2777, 2017

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Standard Household Costs, 2017
C72 M100 Y0 K0C72 M100 Y0 K50 C30 M40 Y3 K0 C15 M22 Y0 K0 C8 M10 Y0 K0C48 M65 Y0 K6
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Gas & Electricity
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Telephone & Internet
Home Insurance

Cable TV (HD Basic)
Home Security System

Total

Reserve Savings
Police Services

Water
Sewer

General Government

Solid Waste
Public Works

Library
Fire Services

Debt Servicing

Diking and Drainage

Parks, Recreation, and Culture

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows
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Municipal Property & 
Other Taxes 54%

Utility, Solid Waste & 
Diking Levies 26%

Sale of Services 8%

Grants & Contributions 9%Investment Income 1%
Licenses, Permits, Penalties & Fines  2%

Parks, Recreation and 
Cultural Services 23%

Utility, Solid Waste & 
Diking Services 25%

General Government 
Services 15%

Transportation Services 13%

Planning Services 2%

Protective Services 22%

2017 Departmental Expenses

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

2017 Revenue Sources

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows
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Debt Per Capita, 2013 – 2017

Legal Debt Limit, 2013 – 2017
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Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Long Term Debt, 2013 – 2017

Based on a 25 year borrowing term and Municipal Finance Authority's posted market rates 
Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department 
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Summary of Statutory Reserve Funds, 2013 – 2017

Operating Surplus, 2014 – 2017

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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Accumulated Surplus, 2013 – 2017

Annual Surplus, 2013 – 2017

Source: City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Accumulated Surplus, 2013 - 2017
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Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets, 2013 - 2017

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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$28,283,207 $29,009,733 $29,158,727 $29,594,455 $32,364,305

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department
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Net Financial Assets, 2013 - 2017

-

5,000,000 

10,000,000 

15,000,000 

20,000,000 

25,000,000 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

Source:  City of Pitt Meadows Finance Department

2017 ANNUAL REPORT City of Pitt Meadows



12007 Harris Road Pitt Meadows BC V3Y 2B5  
Tel: 604.465.5454   PITTMEADOWS.BC.CA


